
 

 

 Traverse City Downtown 
Development Authority Regular 

Meeting 
Friday, September 20, 2024 

9:00 am 
Commission Chambers, Governmental Center 

400 Boardman Avenue 
Traverse City, Michigan 49684 

  

 
  
  
  
  

 
The City of Traverse City does not discriminate on the basis of disability in the 
admission to, access to, treatment in, or employment in, its programs or activities.  
Interim Assistant City Manager, 400 Boardman Avenue, Traverse City, Michigan 49684, 
phone 231-922-4440, TDD/TTY 231-922-4412, VRS 231-421-7008, has been 
designated to coordinate compliance with the non-discrimination requirements 
contained in Section 35.107 of the Department of Justice regulations.  Information 
concerning the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, and the rights provided 
thereunder, are available from the ADA Coordinator. 
 
If you are planning to attend and you have a disability requiring any special assistance 
at the meeting and/or if you have any concerns, please immediately notify the ADA 
Coordinator. 
  
The City of Traverse City and Downtown Development Authority are committed to a 
dialog that is constructive, respectful and civil. We ask that all individuals interacting 
verbally or in writing with board members honor these values.   
  

Downtown Development Authority:     
c/o Harry Burkholder, Executive Director 
(231) 922-2050 
Web:  www.dda.downtowntc.com  
303 East State Street, Suite C 
Traverse City, MI  49684 

  
   
  

Page 1 of 96



 
Follow us on Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram - CityofTC - www.traversecitymi.gov 

 

 
Welcome to the Traverse City Downtown Development Authority 

meeting 
 

Agenda 
  

Page  
1. CALL TO ORDER    
2. 

 
ROLL CALL  

  
3. 

 
ELECTION OF OFFICERS  

 
 A. Election of Officers (approval recommended)   

Election of Officers Memo (Burkholder) - PDF 
Rules Governing the DDA Board - PDF 
DDA Finance Committee Roles and Responsibilities - PDF 
DDA Governance Committee Roles and Responsibilities - PDF 
DDA Board and Committee2024 Meeting Schedule - PDF 

5 - 
20 

  
4. 

 
REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF AGENDA  

  
5. 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT  

  
6. 

 
CONSENT CALENDAR 
The purpose of the consent calendar is to expedite business by grouping 
non-controversial items together to be dealt with by one DDA Board motion 
without discussion. Any member of the DDA Board, staff or the public may 
ask that any item on the consent calendar be removed therefrom and 
placed elsewhere on the agenda for individual consideration by the DDA 
Board; and such requests will be automatically respected.  If an item is not 
removed from the consent calendar, the action noted in parentheses on the 
agenda is approved by a single DDA Board action adopting the consent 
calendar. 

 

 
 A. Consideration of approving the minutes from the August 16, 2024 

DDA Regular Meeting (approval recommended)  
Downtown Development Authority August 16, 2024 Meeting Minutes 
- PDF 

21 - 
25 

 
 B. Consideration of approving the August Financial Reports and 

Disbursements for DDA General, Old Town TIF, TIF-97 and the Arts 
Commission.   
DDA General, Old Town TIF, TIF-97 August Financial Report 
Combined - PDF 

26 - 
34 

Page 2 of 96



 
Follow us on Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram - CityofTC - www.traversecitymi.gov 

 

DDA General, Old Town TIF, TIF-97 August Financial Dashboard 
Combined - PDF 
Arts Commission August 2024 Financial Report - PDF   

7. 
 
ITEMS REMOVED FROM CONSENT CALENDAR  

  
8. 

 
OLD BUSINESS  

 
 A. Two-Way Circulation Pilot Project  

Two Way Pilot Project Memo (Burkholder) - PDF 
Progressive AE Presentation - PDF 

35 - 
58 

  
9. 

 
NEW BUSINESS  

 
 A. Traverse Connect Contract (approval recommended)  

Traverse Connect Contract Memo (Burkholder) - PDF 
Traverse Connect - DDA Authority Professional Services Contract 
2024 - PDF 

59 - 
66 

 
 B. Rehmann Contract (approval recommended)  

Rehman Contract Memo (Burkholder) - PDF 
Rehmann Engagement Letter - PDF 

67 - 
79 

 
 C. Executive Director Job Description (approval recommended)   

Executive Director Job Description Memo (Burkholder) - PDF 
Executive Director Job Description - PDF 

80 - 
84 

 
 D. TIF-97 Budget Priorities   

TIF-97 Budget Priorities Memo (Burkholder) - PDF 
Working TIF-97 Estimate Worksheet - PDF 

85 - 
90 

  
10. 

 
CEO REPORT  

 
 A. Executive Director Report   

Executive Director Report Memo - PDF 
91 - 

93 
  
11. 

 
BOARD MEMBER REPORTS  

 
 A. Arts Commission Report   

Arts Commission Report Memo (McMillen) - PDF 
94 

  
12. 

 
STAFF REPORTS  

 
 A. Director of Events and Outreach Report   

Director of Events and Outreach Report (Klebba) - PDF 
95 - 

96 
  
13. 

 
RECEIVE AND FILE  

    

Page 3 of 96



 
Follow us on Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram - CityofTC - www.traversecitymi.gov 

 

14. PUBLIC COMMENT   
15. 

 
ADJOURNMENT  

 

Page 4 of 96



 

Downtown Development Authority 
303 E. State Street 

Traverse City, MI 49684 
harry@downtowntc.com 

      231-922-2050 

            Memorandum 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
To:    Downtown Development Authority Board 
 
From:  Harry Burkholder, Executive Director  
   
Date:   September 13, 2024 
 
Subject:  Election of Officers 
 
 
Board Officers 
Our by-laws require that the election of officers shall happen at the annual 
organizational meeting. The annual organizational meeting (as identified in our by-
laws) shall occur in September, or no less than 90 days from September. The protocol 
for the nomination of officers requires that our current Chair call the meeting to order 
and then ask the Executive Director to call for nominations of Chair – note, with the 
recent resignation of Gabe Schnieder, Scott Hardy (vice-chair) is serving a Chair.  
After the Chair is elected, the Executive Director will turn the meeting over to the new 
Chair who will ask for the remaining nomination of officers.     
 
Our current officers include: 

Acting Chair:  
Vice-Chair: Scott Hardy 
Treasurer: Jeff Joubran 
Secretary: Open  
 

The Treasurer has indicated his willingness to serve for the 2023/2024 year. The office 
of Chair, Vice-Chair, and Secretary will need to be filled.  
 
Standing Committees  
In December of 2022, noting the significant work with the implementation of the Moving 
Downtown Forward TIF Extension and several large infrastructure projects, the DDA 
Board approved to transition and restructure the two standing committees (Finance and 
Governance) roles and responsibilities into a new monthly study session format, 
beginning in February 2023. For the most part, the DDA has been operating under this 
format. However, in September of 2023, the DDA Board appointed members to the two 
standing committees and has since facilitated several meetings of the two standing 
committees to address specific topics and/or circumstances, most notably the 
2024/2025 budget and the hiring of the Executive Director.   
 

Page 5 of 96



 

Historically, the Finance Committee was charged with oversight and responsibility for all 
assets and funds owned or administered by the DDA in accordance with DDA financial 
policies.  
 
The Governance Committee was charged with oversight, review and recommendations 
regarding board operations to enhance the quality and future viability of the board.  
 
Attached is a more thorough overview of the roles and responsibilities of the two 
standing committees that the Board adopted in 2019 (with updates changing the CEO to 
Executive Director).    
 

Finance Committee Composition  
The Finance Committee is currently comprised of four (4) board members and per the 
roles and responsibilities, must meet minimally six times per year. In addition, the 
Chair of the Finance Committee must be the Treasurer of the DDA Board.  
 
Current Members: 

• Chair – Jeff Joubran 
• Scott Hardy  
• Ed Sloskly  
• Mike Powers  

 
Governance Committee Composition  
The Governance Committee is currently comprised of three (3 board members and 
per the roles and responsibilities, must meet at least quarterly.  

 
Current Members: 

• Chair – Todd McMillen 
• Amy Shamroe 
• Pete Kirkwood 

 
Advisory Committees 
DDA board members also serve on subcommittees and advisory committees related to 
specific City and DDA initiatives.   

 
Farmers Market Advisory Committee  
The Farmers Market Advisory Committee has one (1) DDA Board member serve as a 
representative from the DDA Board. Currently, board member Shelley Spencer 
represents the DDA on this Board. Meetings occur three times per year. 

 
Mobility and Parking Advisory Board (no longer standing) 
In previous years, the DDA had a Mobility and Parking Advisory Board to address 
parking and mobility issues. The Mobility and Parking Advisory Board was comprised 
of four (4) board members and (4) citizens-at-large. Given Parking Services transition 
to the City, the Mobility and Parking Advisory Board is no longer standing nor under 

Page 6 of 96



 

the purview of the DDA. The future need and existence of the Advisory Board will be 
determined by the city.  

 
Arts Commission  
While technically this is a City Advisory Board, one (1) DDA Board Member sits on the 
Arts Commission. Meetings occur on the third Wednesday of each month at 3:30pm. 
Todd McMillen currently sits as the DDA representative.  
 
Rotary Square  
Given that we will soon be kicking off the conceptual design process for Rotary 
Square, I think it would be advantageous to appoint one (1) DDA Board Member to sit 
on a newly created advisory committee for this project. The duties and commitment for 
this potential appointment have not yet been established, but will not be an 
overbearing time commitment.  
 

Given that: (1) the primary reason (i.e., the Moving Downtown Forward TIF Plan) the 
DDA Board established the study session schedule has been approved by the DDA 
Board and; (2) we are still holding Finance and Governance Committee meetings, I am 
asking the DDA Board for direction as to their desire/need/preference for Standing 
Committees and Meetings. That is, is there a preference to keep the Finance and 
Governance Committees and adhere to their respected meeting schedules and 
eliminate the study session format? Or, is there a preference to keep the study session 
format and eliminate the Standing Committees? Or is there a desire to keep both the 
study session format and Standing Committees?  
 
According to our bylaws (see attached), the DDA may appoint committees, but is not 
required to do so. I have also attached the “roles and responsibilities” of the two 
Standing Committees as reference.   
 
I would note, that the study session format, in addition to the Standing Committee 
meeting schedule, is quite time-consuming for both staff and for board members. I 
would also note, should the DDA Board eliminate the study session format, it does not 
prevent the board from scheduling a special study session meeting if so desired and 
warranted.         
 
A motion is required from the Board for nominations for each officer or a full slate 
officers can be made in one motion. 
 
A motion(s) is required from the Board for nominations for each subcommittee/advisory 
committee. 
 
A motion is preferred from the Board as to the desire for study sessions. 
 
Recommended Motion   
Nominations and motions for Officers, Committees and Study Sessions must come from 
DDA Board members.  

Page 7 of 96



 

Originally adopted by DDA 9-21-78. Approved by City Commission 10/2/78. As amended 8/17/1999, 2/19/2010. 

RULES GOVERNING THE TRAVERSE CITY  
DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY  

ARTICLE I. PURPOSES AND POWERS  

The purpose or purposes for which the Authority is organized are as follows: To  act as a 
Downtown Development Authority in accordance with Act 197 of the  Public Acts of 1975, as 
amended, including, but not limited to: to correct and  prevent deterioration in the Downtown 
Development District, to encourage  historic preservation, to create and implement development 
plans, and to  promote economic growth. In furtherance of these purposes, the Authority  shall 
have all of the powers which now or hereafter may be conferred by law on  Authorities organized 
under Act 197, Public Acts of 1975, as amended; and  Public Law 91-646, being the Federal 
Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real  Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970.   

 

ARTICLE II. BOARD  

Section 1. General Powers  

The Authority shall be under the supervision and control of a board.  

Section 2. Number, Tenure and Qualifications.  

The Board of the Authority shall consist of twelve persons, the Chief Executive Officer of the City 
of Traverse City and eleven members. The members shall be appointed for a term of four years 
except that of members first appointed, two shall be appointed for one year, two for two years, 
two for three years and two for four years. At least a majority of the members shall be persons 
having an interest in property located in the downtown district. At least one of the members shall 
be a resident of the downtown district if it has one hundred or more persons residing within it. 
The term of office shall begin on the date of the annual organizational meeting of the Traverse 
City Downtown Development Authority in September 

 
Section 3. Selection of Board Members.  

The Chief Executive Officer of the City of Traverse City with the advice and consent of the City 
Commission shall appoint the members of the board. Subsequent board members shall be 
appointed in the same manner as the original appointments at the expiration of each member's 
term of office. Before assuming the duties of office, a member shall qualify by taking and 
subscribing to the constitutional oath of office.  

Page 8 of 96



 

Originally adopted by DDA 9-21-78. Approved by City Commission 10/2/78. As amended 8/17/1999, 2/19/2010. 

Section 4. Compensation of Members.  

Members of the board shall serve without compensation, but shall be reimbursed for actual and 
necessary expenses, and may be provided  recognition in the form of a gift, such as a plaque, 
valued at no more than  $100.  

Section 5. Expiration of Term, Continuation in Office, Reappointment and Filling of Vacancies.  

Members whose terms of office have expired shall continue to hold office until a successor has 
been appointed. If a vacancy is created by the death, resignation or removal of a member; a 
successor shall be appointed by the  Mayor with the advice and consent of the City Commission 
within thirty days to  hold office for the remainder of the term so vacated.   

Section 6 Removal.  

Pursuant to proper notice and an opportunity to be heard, a member may  be removed from 
office for neglect of duty including nonattendance at  meetings, misconduct, malfeasance, or any 
other good cause by a majority  vote of the City Commission. Removal of a member is subject to 
review by the circuit court.  

Section 7. Disclosure of Interest.  

A board member who has a direct interest in any matter before the Authority shall disclose his 
interest prior to the Authority taking any action with respect to the matter, which disclosure shall 
become a part of the record of the  Authority's official proceedings. Further, any member making 
such disclosure shall then refrain from participating in the Authority's decision-making process 
relative to such matter. 

  
ARTICLE III. OFFICERS  

Section 1. Officers.  

The officers of the Authority shall be a Chairperson, Vice-Chairperson,  Secretary and Treasurer.  

Section 2. Removal of Officers.  

An officer may be removed by the board whenever in its judgment the  best interest of the 
Authority would be served.  

Section 3. Filling of Vacancies.  

Page 9 of 96



 

Originally adopted by DDA 9-21-78. Approved by City Commission 10/2/78. As amended 8/17/1999, 2/19/2010. 

A vacancy may be filled by the board for the unexpired portion of the term.  

Section 4. Chairperson.  

The Chairperson shall preside at all meetings of the board and shall discharge the duties of a 
presiding officer.  

Section 5. Vice Chairperson.  

In the absence of the Chairperson or in the event of his inability or refusal to act, the Vice-
Chairperson shall perform the duties of the Chairperson and when so acting shall have all the 
powers and be subject to all restrictions of the Chairperson.  

ARTICLE IV. MEETINGS  

Section 1. Annual Meeting.  

The annual meeting shall be held on the third Friday of September at the hour of 8:00 a.m. at 
the Governmental Center, 400 Boardman, Traverse City,  MI 49684. The election of officers shall 
occur at the annual organizational meeting. If the election of officers should not occur on the day 
designated, or any adjournment thereof, the board shall cause the election to be held at a regular 
or special meeting of the board within ninety (90) days of the annual meeting.  

Section 2. Regular Meetings.  

Regular meetings of the board shall be held at 8:00 a.m. on the third Friday of each month at 
the Governmental Center, 400 Boardman Avenue,  Traverse City, MI 49684, unless rescheduled 
by the Chairperson. In the event the meeting day shall fall on a holiday, the Chairperson shall 
reschedule the  meeting to a non-holiday. The financial records shall be open to the public  
subject to the Michigan Freedom of Information Act. Any regularly scheduled meeting may be 
canceled for a lack of quorum.  

Section 3. Special Meetings.  

Special meetings of the board may be called by the Chairperson, by the Vice Chairperson in the 
absence of the Chairperson, by the Executive Director, by any three members, or by the City 
Commission by giving twenty-four (24) hours notice of the meeting stating the purpose of the 
meeting and by posting the notice eighteen (18) hours prior to the meeting.  

 

Page 10 of 96



 

Originally adopted by DDA 9-21-78. Approved by City Commission 10/2/78. As amended 8/17/1999, 2/19/2010. 

Section 4. Notice of Meeting.  

All meetings shall be preceded by public notice posted eighteen (18) hours prior to the meeting 
in accordance with the Open Meetings Act (Act 267 of the Public Acts of 1976, as amended). 
Notice to the members of the board and to the public shall be the responsibility of the Secretary.  

Section 5. Agenda.  

The Chairperson may direct the Executive Director to prepare the agendas for all meetings and 
send them to the Authority members at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to a meeting. Any 
member of the Authority may request any item to be placed upon the Agenda.  

Section 6. Quorum and Voting.  

A majority of the members of the board in office shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of 
business. No action shall be taken except upon concurring vote of five members of the board, 
unless a higher number is required by statute or these rules. In the event that effective 
membership is reduced because of disclosure of interest (Article II, Section 7), a majority of  the 
remaining members eligible to vote shall constitute the action of the board. 

  
Section 7. Rules of Order.  

Robert's Rules of Order will govern the conduct of all meetings.   

A. Public Comment and Public Hearings: All interested parties shall have an opportunity to 
speak at public hearings, and at the public comment portion of meetings. The 
Chairperson, may, at her or his discretion, allow the public to speak on agenda items 
prior to Board action. The Board shall treat the public with respect. As part of its 
deliberation, the Board may clarify, answer questions and ask questions as a result of 
public comment. The comment of any member of the public or special interest group 
may be limited in time to five minutes.  

B. Public Comment during the designated Public Comment Section – Reserved: Any 
interested person or any special interest group wishing to address the Board of Directors 
for a reserved time shall submit a written request to the Executive Director no later than 
5:00 p.m. of the Friday immediately preceding the date of the meeting. The request 
shall identify the requestor’s name and address and state the subject of the matter they 
wish to speak to. The comment of any member of the public or special interest group 
may be limited in time to 15 minutes. Questions may be answered at the meeting or 
referred to staff for a response at a later time. 

Page 11 of 96



 

Originally adopted by DDA 9-21-78. Approved by City Commission 10/2/78. As amended 8/17/1999, 2/19/2010. 

  
ARTICLE V. EMPLOYMENT OF PERSONNEL  

Section 1. Executive Director.  

The Board may employ and fix the compensation of a director, subject to the approval of the City 
Commission. The director shall serve at the pleasure of the board. A member of the board is not 
eligible to hold the position of director. Before entering upon the duties of his office, the director 
shall take and subscribe to the constitutional oath, and furnish bond, by posting a bond in the 
penal sum determined in the ordinance establishing the Authority, payable to the Authority for 
use and benefit of the Authority, approved by the board, and filed with the City Clerk. The 
premium on the bond shall be deemed an operating expense of the Authority, payable from funds 
available to the Authority for expenses and operation. The director shall be the chief executive 
officer of the Authority. Subject to the approval of the board, the director shall supervise, and be 
responsible for, the preparation of plans and the performance of the functions of the Authority in 
the manner authorized by Act 197 of the Public Acts of 1975, as amended. The director shall 
attend the meetings of the board, and shall render to the board and to the City Commission a 
regular report covering the activities and financial condition of the Authority. If the director is 
absent or disabled, the board may designate a qualified person as acting director to perform the 
duties of the office. Before entering upon the duties of his office, the acting director shall take 
and subscribe to the oath, an furnish bond, as required of the director. The director shall furnish 
the board with information or reports governing the operation of the Authority as the board 
requires.  

Section 2. Treasurer.  

The board may employ and fix the compensation of a Treasurer if he or she is not a board 
member, who shall keep the financial records of the Authority and who, together with the director, 
shall approve all vouchers for the expenditure of funds of the Authority. The Treasurer shall 
perform such other duties as may be delegated by the board and shall furnish bond in an amount 
as prescribed by the board.  

Section 3. Secretary.  

The board may employ and fix the compensation of a secretary, who shall maintain custody of 
the official seal and of records, books, documents, or other papers not required to be 
maintained by the controller. The secretary shall attend meetings of the board and keep a 
record of its proceedings, and shall perform such other duties delegated by the board.  

Section 4. Legal Counsel.  

The board may retain legal counsel to advise the board in the proper performance of its duties. 

Page 12 of 96



 

Originally adopted by DDA 9-21-78. Approved by City Commission 10/2/78. As amended 8/17/1999, 2/19/2010. 

The legal counsel shall represent the Authority in actions brought by or against the Authority.  

Section 5. Other Personnel.  

The board may employ other personnel deemed necessary by the board.  

ARTICLE VI. COMMITTEES AND ADVISORY BOARDS  

Section 1. Committees.  

The board by resolution may designate and appoint one or more committees to advise the board. 
The committee members shall be members of the Authority. The Chairman of the Authority shall 
appoint the members and select the chairman. The committees may be terminated by a vote of 
the Authority. At the annual meeting the committees will be evaluated and reappointed or 
dissolved. A majority of the committee will constitute a quorum. A majority of the members 
present at the meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the committee.  

Section 2. Advisory Boards.  

The board may by resolution authorize the establishment of advisory boards to the Authority. 
The Chairman shall select with the advice and consent of the Authority the members of each 
advisory board. The advisory board shall elect their own officers and establish rules governing 
their election.  

ARTICLE VII. CONTRACTS AND FUNDS  

Section 1. Contracts.  

The board may authorize the Executive Director or an agent or agents of the Authority to enter 
into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument on behalf of the Authority within the 
limits authorized by Public Act 197. The authorization may be general or confined to specific 
instances.  

Section 2. Funds.  

All checks, drafts or orders for the payment of money issued in the name of the Authority shall 
be signed by two of the following: Chairperson of the Board, Treasurer or Executive Director, or 
anyone specifically designated by th Board of Directors. All money, notes or other evidence of 
indebtedness shall be issued in the same manner following approval of the Board of Directors. All 
funds of the Authority shall be placed in such banks, trust companies, or other depositories as 
selected by the Board of Directors pursuant to an investment policy.  

Page 13 of 96



 

Originally adopted by DDA 9-21-78. Approved by City Commission 10/2/78. As amended 8/17/1999, 2/19/2010. 

Section 3. Contributions or Gifts.  

The board may accept on behalf of the Authority any contribution, gift, bequest, or device for the 
general purposes or for any special purpose of the Authority.  

ARTICLE VIII. BOOKS AND RECORDS  

Section 1. Books and Records.  

The Authority shall keep correct and complete records of books and accounts and minutes of the 
meetings. The records shall be kept at the principal office of the Authority which will have a 
record of the names and addresses of the members of the Authority. Books and records of the 
Authority shall be open to the public as prescribed in the Freedom of Information Act. An annual 
audit by an independent certified public accountant will be conducted.  

Section 2. Fiscal Year.  

The fiscal year of the Authority shall at all times conform to the fiscal year of the City of 
Traverse City. 

 
ARTICLE IX. RAISING OF FUNDS  

Section 1. Ad Valorem Tax.  

The Authority with the approval of the City Commission may levy an ad valorem tax on the real 
and tangible property not exempt by law and as finally equalized in the downtown district. The 
tax shall be no more than 2 mills. The tax shall be collected by the City of Traverse City. The City 
shall collect the tax at the same time and in the same manner as it collects its other ad valorem 
taxes. The tax shall be credited to the general fund of the Authority for purposes of financing 
only the operations of the Authority.  

Section 2. Borrowing Money Prior to Collection of Tax.  

The City may at the request of the Authority borrow money and issue its  notes therefore pursuant 
to Act 202 of the Public Acts of 1943, as amended,  being sections 131.1 and 138.2 of the 
Michigan Compiled Laws, in anticipation  of collection of the ad valorem tax authorized in this 
section.  

 

Page 14 of 96



 

Originally adopted by DDA 9-21-78. Approved by City Commission 10/2/78. As amended 8/17/1999, 2/19/2010. 

Section 3. Revenue Bonds.  

The Authority may borrow money and issue its negotiable revenue bonds therefore pursuant to 
Act 94 of the Public Acts of 1933, as amended, being sections 141.101 to 141.139 of the Michigan 
Compiled Laws. Revenue bonds issued by the Authority shall not except as hereinafter provided 
be deemed a debt of the City of Traverse City or the State of Michigan. The City Commission by 
a majority vote of the members may pledge its full faith and credit to support the Authority's 
revenue bonds.  

Section 4. Tax Increment Financing.  

When the Authority determines that it is necessary for the achievement of the purposes of Act 
197, Public Acts of 1975, the Authority shall prepare and submit a tax increment financing plan 
to the City Commission. The plan shall include a development plan as provided in Section 17, Act 
197, Public Acts of 1975, a detailed explanation of the tax increment procedure, the amount of 
bonded indebtedness to be incurred, the duration of the program and shall be in compliance with 
Section 15 of that Act. The plan shall contain a statement of the estimated impact of tax increment 
financing on the assessed values of all taxing jurisdictions in which the development area is 
located. The plan may provide for the use of part of all of the captured assessed value, but the 
portion intended to be used by the Authority shall be clearly stated in the tax increment financing 
plan. The plan may be amended from time to time as allowed in Act 197, Public Acts of 1975. 
More than one plan may be created.  

ARTICLE X. DISTRICT BOUNDARIES  

The Authority shall exercise its powers within the downtown district of the City of Traverse City 
so determined by ordinance of the City Commission.  

ARTICLE XI. AMENDMENT TO RULES  

These rules may be altered, amended, or repealed and new rules adopted, by a majority of the 
members present at any regular meeting.   
 

Page 15 of 96



Page 1 of 1

Traverse City Downtown Development Authority (TCDDA)
Board of Directors

Finance Committee – Roles & Responsibilities
Established:  February 4, 2019  

Pursuant to the DDA Board’s by-laws, the Finance Committee is a standing committee of the 
DDA Board of Directors.  The Finance Committee is charged with oversight responsibility for all 
assets and funds owned or administered by the TCDDA in accordance with all board-adopted 
financial policies.  The Finance Committee has the following roles and responsibilities:

1. Meet at least six times per year but preferably monthly and provide meeting minutes to 
the full Board of Directors.

2. Recommend the format and information contained in monthly financial reports to the 
Board.

3. Review monthly financial statements and clarify any outstanding questions or issues 
with the CEO (or designated staff member) prior to monthly board financial reports.  

4. Present and lead discussion on monthly financial reports to the board as a standard 
agenda item.

5. Receive and review with the CEO (or designated staff member) the Annual Operating 
Budget in advance of it appearing before the Board for consideration and adoption.

6. Develop, lead and oversee key financial strategies to ensure the organization’s long-
term health and sustainability.

7. Recommend any financial management, investment, or spending policies to the board.

8. Review and make recommendations on all insurance policies held by the board.

9. Any other periodic or regular board financial matters as desired by the Board of 
Directors.

Page 16 of 96



Page 1 of 2 
 

Traverse City Downtown Development Authority (DDA) 
Board of Directors 

Governance Committee – Roles & Responsibilities 
Established:  February 4, 2019   

 
 

Pursuant to the DDA Board’s by-laws, the Governance Committee is a standing committee of 
the DDA Board of Directors.  The Governance Committee is charged with oversight, review and 
recommendations regarding board operations to enhance the quality and future viability of the 
Board.  The Governance Committee has the following roles and responsibilities: 
 

1. Meet at least quarterly and provide meeting minutes to the full Board of Directors. 
 

2. Lead the board in regularly reviewing and updating its understanding of its roles, 
responsibilities, and expectations of individual board members. 
 

3. Serve as the planning and review team for organizational strategic planning activities. 
 

4. Assess on an on-going basis the current and anticipated needs for board composition. 
 

5. Develop and recommend the following documents, practices, and policies; conduct 
annual review of all these items and make recommendations for any updates that may 
be needed. 

a. Board Committee job descriptions;  
b. Board Code of Conduct Policy; 
c. Board Conflict of Interest Policy and annual statement for signing; 
d. Qualifications & Characteristics Grid for consideration of potential new board 

members, including knowledge, attributes, skills, abilities, influence, background, 
etc.; 

e. Board Orientation and Operating Manual;  
f. New member on-boarding process including but not limited to an orientation 

session for all new board members; 
g. Board on-going education process, including protocol, content, and schedule; 
h. Board annual self-assessment protocol and tool; 
i. A general Board-CEO Roles and Responsibility Policy, distinguishing the 

respective roles, responsibilities, and relationships; 
j. Grievance Policy; 
k. Board process and format for conducting an annual performance and 

compensation review of the CEO; 
l. Any other board policies as needed. 

 
6. Establish and conduct reviews of the Employee Compensation Plan, including wages and 

fringe benefits, every other year and make recommendations to the Board for any 
adjustments. 

Page 17 of 96



Page 2 of 2 
 

 
7. Review the DDA Board’s by-laws annually and make recommendations for any changes 

if needed.  
 

8. Assist the CEO in planning and implementing board retreats as desired. 
 

9. Regularly review the board’s practices and status regarding member participation, 
confidentiality, attendance and conduct, and provide any recommendations as needed 
to enhance board effectiveness. 
 

10. Any other periodic or regular Board Governance matters as desired by the Board of 
Directors. 

Page 18 of 96



 
 
 
 
 
   
FINANCE COMMITTEE      GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
1st Thursday bi-monthly @8:30a     Last Monday every Quarter @1:00pm 
2024        2024 
October 4        September 30  
December 6        December   
2025        2025 
February 7        March 31  
April 4         June 30  
June 6         September 29  
August 1 
 
DDA BOARD MEEETINGS      TRAVERSE CITY ARTS COMMISSION 
3RD Friday of the month @ 9am     3rd Wednesday of month @ 3:30pm 
2024        2024 
October 18       October 16 
November 15       November 20 
December 20       December 18 
2025        2025 
January 17       January 15 
February 21       February 19 
March 21       March 19 
April 18        April 16 
May 16        May 15  
June 20        June 18 
July 18        July 16 
August 15       August 21 
September 19-Organizational meeting    September 17 
 
FARMERS MARKET ADVISORY BOARD    STUDY SESSIONS 
3rd Monday @ 9am      1ST Friday of month @ 12pm 
2024        2024 
October 21       October 18 
2025        November 15 
January 20       December 20 
March 17       2025 
        January 6 
        February 3 
        March 3 
        April 7 
        May 5 
        June 2 
        July 7 
        August 4 
        September 1 

Page 19 of 96



 
 
       
     
 
 

Page 20 of 96



 

 
Minutes of the 

Downtown Development Authority for the City of Traverse City 
Regular Meeting 

Friday, August 16, 2024  
 
          A regular meeting of the Downtown Development Authority of the City of Traverse City was 
called to order at the Commission Chambers, Governmental Center, 400 Boardman Avenue, 
Traverse City, Michigan, at 9:00 a.m. 
  
          The following Board Members were in attendance: Chairperson Gabe Schneider, Board 
Member Peter Kirkwood, Board Vice Chair Scott Hardy, Board Member Jeff Joubran, Board 
Member Todd McMillen, Board Member Ed Slosky, Mayor Amy Shamroe, Board Member Shelley 
Spencer, Board Member Gary Howe, and Board Member Mike Powers  
  
          The following Board Members were absent:   Board Member Hillary Ascroft 
  
          Chairperson Schneider presided at the meeting. 
  
 
(a) CALL TO ORDER 

  
The meeting was called to order at 9am 

 
(b) ROLL CALL 
 
(c) REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF AGENDA  
 (1) That the board approve the Agenda as presented. 

 
Moved by Scott Hardy, Seconded by Ed Slosky 
 
Yes: Gabe Schneider, Peter Kirkwood, Scott Hardy, Todd McMillen, Ed 

Slosky, Amy Shamroe, Shelley Spencer, Gary Howe, and Mike 
Powers 

Absent: Jeff Joubran and Hillary Ascroft 
CARRIED. 9-0-2 on a recorded vote  

 
(d) PUBLIC COMMENT 

  

Page 1 of 5

Page 21 of 96



 
The following addressed the board: 
Tim Werner 
Jim Carruthers 
  

 
(e) CONSENT CALENDAR 

The purpose of the consent calendar is to expedite business by grouping 
non-controversial items together to be dealt with by one DDA Board motion without 
discussion. Any member of the DDA Board, staff or the public may ask that any item on 
the consent calendar be removed therefrom and placed elsewhere on the agenda for 
individual consideration by the DDA Board; and such requests will be automatically 
respected.  If an item is not removed from the consent calendar, the action noted in 
parentheses on the agenda is approved by a single DDA Board action adopting the 
consent calendar.  

 (1) Consideration of approving the minutes from the July 19, 2024 DDA Regular 
Meeting (approval recommended)    

 (2) Consideration of approving the minutes from the August 2, 2024 Downtown 
Development Authority Study Session (approval recommended)     

 (3) Consideration of approving the July Financial Reports and Disbursements for DDA 
General, Old Town TIF, TIF-97, Parking Services and the Arts Commission 
(approval recommended)  
  
Motion to approve the Consent Calendar as presented 
 
Moved by Amy Shamroe, Seconded by Todd McMillen 
 
Yes: Gabe Schneider, Peter Kirkwood, Scott Hardy, Todd McMillen, Ed 

Slosky, Amy Shamroe, Shelley Spencer, Gary Howe, and Mike 
Powers 

Absent: Jeff Joubran and Hillary Ascroft 
CARRIED. 9-0-2 on a recorded vote  

 
(f) ITEMS REMOVED FROM CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
(g) OLD BUSINESS  
 (1) Moving Downtown Forward TIF and Development Plan (approval recommended)  

 
  
The following addressed the board: 
Harry Burkholder 
Gabe Schneider 
Scott Hardy 
Amy Shamroe 
Gary Howe 
Ed Slosky 

Page 2 of 5

Page 22 of 96



 
Pete Kirkwood 
Mike Powers 
That the DDA Board endorses and supports the proposed Moving Downtown 
Forward combined TIF and Development plan; and further, the DDA Board directs 
staff to forward the proposed Moving Downtown Forward combined TIF and 
Development Plan to the City Commission with the recommendation that the 
Commission approve the proposed Moving Downtown Forward combined TIF and 
Development Plan after the City first conducts a public hearing as provided in 
Section 218 of the Recodified Tax Increment Financing Act 
 
Moved by Amy Shamroe, Seconded by Scott Hardy 
 
Yes: Gabe Schneider, Peter Kirkwood, Scott Hardy, Todd McMillen, Ed 

Slosky, Amy Shamroe, Shelley Spencer, Gary Howe, and Mike 
Powers 

Absent: Jeff Joubran and Hillary Ascroft 
CARRIED. 9-0-2 on a recorded vote  

 
(h) NEW BUSINESS  
 (1) Executive Director Employment Agreement (approval recommended)  

 
The following addressed the board: 
Harry Burkholder 
Scott Howard 
Gabe Schneider 
Amy Shamroe 
Recommended Motion That the DDA Chair execute an Employment Agreement for 
Executive Director with Harry Burkholder, which specifies the terms and conditions 
of employment of Mr. Burkholder as Executive Director, with the agreement subject 
to approval as to its form by the DDA Attorney. 
 
Moved by Ed Slosky, Seconded by Scott Hardy 
 
Yes: Gabe Schneider, Peter Kirkwood, Todd McMillen, Ed Slosky, Amy 

Shamroe, Shelley Spencer, Gary Howe, and Mike Powers 
Absent: Jeff Joubran and Hillary Ascroft 

CARRIED. 8-0-2 on a recorded vote   
 (2) Service Agreement For Trash Collection (approval recommended) 

 
The following addressed the board: 
Harry Burkholder 
Mike Powers 
Pete Kirkwood 
Ed Slosky 
Amy Shamroe 

Page 3 of 5

Page 23 of 96



 
Scott Hardy 
RECOMMENDED MOTION: That the DDA Board of Directors enter into a service 
agreement with the City of Traverse City for a not to exceed amount of 
$240,428.79, using funds from Old Town TIF and TIF-97, for the transportation, 
collection and disposal of trash within the DDA District for a term of three years, and 
that such agreement is subject to approval as to its substance by the DDA 
Executive Director and its form by the DDA Attorney 
 
Moved by Gary Howe, Seconded by Amy Shamroe 
 
Yes: Gabe Schneider, Peter Kirkwood, Scott Hardy, Todd McMillen, Ed 

Slosky, Amy Shamroe, Shelley Spencer, Gary Howe, and Mike 
Powers 

Absent: Jeff Joubran and Hillary Ascroft 
CARRIED. 9-0-2 on a recorded vote   

 (3) Mobility Action Plan (approval recommended)  
 
The following addressed the board: 
Harry Burkholder 
Shawn Winter 
Gary Howe 
Pete Kirkwood 
Scott Hardy 
Gabe Schneider 
Ed Slosky 
Amy Shamroe 
Scott Howard 
  
  
  
That the DDA Board of Directors approve the 2024 Traverse City Mobility Action 
Plan 
 
Moved by Gary Howe, Seconded by Amy Shamroe 
 
Yes: Gabe Schneider, Peter Kirkwood, Scott Hardy, Todd McMillen, Ed 

Slosky, Amy Shamroe, Shelley Spencer, Gary Howe, and Mike 
Powers 

Absent: Jeff Joubran and Hillary Ascroft 
CARRIED. 9-0-2 on a recorded vote  

 
(i) EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR REPORT  
 (1) Executive Director Report  

 
The following addressed the board: 

Page 4 of 5

Page 24 of 96



 
Harry Burkholder 
 
  
* Todd McMillen and Ed Slosky left the board meeting at 10:35am.  

 
(j) BOARD MEMBER REPORTS  
 (1) Arts Commission Report  

 
The following addressed the board: 
Harry Burkholder  

 
(k) STAFF REPORTS  
 (1) Director of Events and Outreach Report  

 
The following addressed the board: 
Sara Klebba 
    

 (2) Parking and Mobility Director Report  
 
The following addressed the board: 
Nicole VanNess  

 
(l) RECEIVE AND FILE  
 (1) July 11, 2024 DTCA Meeting Minutes   
 
(m) PUBLIC COMMENT 

The following addressed the board: 
Gabe Schneider announced his resignation as Chair of the DDA Board of Directors. 
Scott Hardy 
Pete Kirkwood 
Amy Shamroe 

 
(n) ADJOURNMENT 

 
The meeting was adjourned by Chair Schneider at 10:55am. 

 

Harry Burkholder, Interim Traverse 
City DDA CEO 

 

Page 5 of 5

Page 25 of 96



���������	��
���������������������������������		��������		
�����	������	������������	�����	 ����

��� !��"#"�$�%&'�()(*&)))�+,!$-�.-,/0�1-234,5#�6�%&&( 789')8*:&9&)&)�+,!$-�.-,/0�;<=,5#��6�>8*) (&)'()7:7(&())��33 "5$��?232,=<@A2 98'%9B:7*&&)&�C"2�+/ D��E;�F1,$G� !�.1H &**:9*&&)*�C"2�+/ D�I$-2/�+"50� *>(:B(&%))�E/26E<,0�JKL25�2 &'&7(:))()))��33 "5$��E<G<@A2 *&'**(:B*(&7%�1/20,$�1</0 &'B&8:7B(()(�E<G/ AA�M,<@,A,$,2�N�33/"20�E<G/ AA�M,<@,A,$,2� &&')9&:*B(()%�E<G/ AA�M,<@,A,$,2�N�33/"20�;<A</,2� %8'%>&:9B(()7�E<G/ AA�M,<@,A,$,2�N*78@�E<G<@A2 *'>%B:7B((&7�E<G/ AA�M,<@,A,$,2�NO2<A$-'�C25$<A'�P,�, 5�Q5�"/<532�E<G<@A2 (B'9*8:9&((()�E<G/ AA�M,<@,A,$,2�NM,!2�R�C,�<@,A,$G�Q5�"/<532�E<G<@A2 9>7:)B((*7�E<G/ AA�M,<@,A,$,2�NS<#2�T</5,�-D25$�E<G<@A2 &*%:7>(%)&�C2L �,$��E<G<@A2NC "@A2�UL�+  0�V"34� &')B):%B(%)%�C2L �,$��E<G<@A2NW1+�?2,D@"/�2D25$� *>B:))(%)*�C2L �,$��E<G<@A2NE/2�3/,L$, 5��! /�O2<A$- &'9*7:>*(%)7�C2L �,$��E<G<@A2NE/ X23$�+/2�- 8>*:))(%)>�C2L �,$��E<G<@A2N;25, /�E/ X23$�+/2�- &'7>*:))(*)8�T?�W.;NYJC1�F1,=,3�;Z"</2H &))'))):))(>))�C2!2//20�Q53 D2 (('7&):9%V"G�M 3<A�T,=2�M 3<A�1<DL<,#5 &'>B9:%8%)))�IL25,5#�V<A�JZ",$G &)8'>)>:(8%B))�?2$<,520�J</5,5#� *(&'(88:9**&)&�.�[J;NE/ L2/$G�.<K2� &&*')9):&)

Page 26 of 96



���������	��
���������������������������������		��������		
�����	������	������������	�����	 ����

� ! �"#$%&'�(�)*%&#+,-&+*%'./"0/�"12345'4246�'41664�76845/39�:;<69�-86 !=�>?@AA�BA �#/+:,-#'/:/%&'.$9C;3;84124;D6�'61D;E68 !FG=H> @AA�BAB�#/+:,-#'/:/%&'.I21J;3K�'61D;E68 G�=?B�@G �BAH�#/+:,-#'/:/%&'.L21C61M8�:21J64�,NN4O�#6342P�+3ENC6  H=!G�@AA�?A!�+%&/#/'&�+%)*:/.+3461684�(�Q;D;96398 !=�FA@AG?!A!�'$0$#+/'.'2P21;68�(�72K68 !AA=G> @�F?!A �'$0$#+/'.RNS1PT�72K6�/<U6386 FG= HA@B!? A!�L#+%"/�,/%/L+&'.R62P4O�+38S123E6 B!=�B>@G ? A �L#+%"/�,/%/L+&'.Q;82V;P;4T�+38S123E6�,636W;48 !=BG>@! ? AB�L#+%"/�,/%/L+&'.0;W6�+38S123E6�/<U6386 B>B@G�? A��L#+%"/�,/%/L+&'.�?F�)NCU23T�:24EO;3K !B=HG?@B!? A>�L#+%"/�,/%/L+&'.'NE;2P�'6ES1;4T�&2<�/<U6386 !!=?G?@�G? AG�L#+%"/�,/%/L+&'.:69;E216�&2<�/<U6386  =F!!@> ? !A�L#+%"/�,/%/L+&'.'-&$�&2<�/<U6386 B!G@HG?�AA�I#*L/''+*%$0�'/#X+)/' !=AA?@AA?�A!�I#*L/''+*%$0�'/#X+)/'.)N3412E4�'61D;E68  =?AA@AA?�A �I#*L/''+*%$0�'/#X+)/'.06K2P ?=B ?@AA?�AB�I#*L/''+*%$0�'/#X+)/'.I1NW688;N32PY)N3412E4S2P ?!=?FF@AF?�A��I#*L/''+*%$0�'/#X+)/'.+38S123E6=�,N398�(�&2<68  >>@AA?�A?�I#*L/''+*%$0�'/#X+)/'.)NCCS3;4T�I1NCN4;N3 !=!F?@AA?�AG�I#*L/''+*%$0�'/#X+)/'."1234�6<U�/"0/�EN13Z6PP�VP9K �G?@AA?�!>�I#*L/''+*%$0�'/#X+)/'.'%$I�LNN9�$88;8423E6�/<U6386 �>A@AA?�!G�I#*L/''+*%$0�'/#X+)/'./"0/�"12345'4246�'41664�76845/39�:;<69�-86   A@AA?� A�I#*L/''+*%$0�'/#X+)/'.L21C618�:21J64�$9C;3;84124;D6�/<U6386 ? ?@AA?� !�:21J64;3K G=AAA@AA?HA!�#/I$+#'�$%Q�:$+%&/%$%)/.#6U2;18�(�:2;346323E6 !>G@>A?BA!�*LL+)/�'-II0+/'�$%Q�-&+0+&+/'.*WW;E6�'SUUP;68 FGF@HA

Page 27 of 96



���������	��
���������������������������������		��������		
�����	������	������������	�����	 ����

� !"�#$$%&'�()**+%'(�,-.�)/%+%/%'(0)12321245 6!78�9� ! �#$$%&'�()**+%'(�,-.�)/%+%/%'(0#:4;<12=>�(?::3245   "869� !��#$$%&'�()**+%'(�,-.�)/%+%/%'(0.?45@�(?A5B;2:12=>5�<>C�D4EA4;5F2:5 "@6768GH� !H�#$$%&'�()**+%'(�,-.�)/%+%/%'(0*;2>12>I�J�*?A325F2>I  9 867� !G�#$$%&'�()**+%'(�,-.�)/%+%/%'(0&=EE?>2B<12=>5 9!!8!!� !7�#$$%&'�()**+%'(�,-.�)/%+%/%'(0D25B433<>4=?5�'K:4>54 GG 8 6/#/,+

Page 28 of 96



���������	��
���������������������������������		��������		
�����	������	������������	�����	 ����

��� !��"#"�$�%&'�()(*&))&�+�,-��./�+�,-�01234�50.6,789!$:�6:9;<�+:=>?9@#�A�B)(C D'((%'D(*EF*&(&)�/=G �9$�A,=>";9$H�/=G �9$ *'F))E))()))��>> "@$��IJHJKL= FF'))(EDB%)))�MG=@9@#�NJL�0O"9$H (&'())E))%D))�P=$J9@=<�0J;@9@#� C'%*Q'())EF(*&)&�6�R0,7I; G=;$H�6JS=� %'%C%'BFCE(CF%)(�M883+0�,2II530,��./�26353630,72$9L9$9=� **&E%BF%)C�M883+0�,2II530,��./�26353630,7I;9@$9@#�T�I"KL9�:9@# &'F%)E*%F%)B�M883+0�,2II530,��./�26353630,7U9�>=LLJ@= "��0SG=@�= &)EQDF%)D�M883+0�,2II530,��./�26353630,7NJ@?�+:J;#=� &&QE*(F*))�I; !=��9 @JL�,=;V9>=� &B('D&QEDDFF))�+ @$;9K"$9 @��$ �/9�$;9>$�+ @�$;">$9 @�I; W=>$� %%&'*&QE(&6M6�5

Page 29 of 96



���������	��
���������������������������������		��������		
�����	������	������������	�����	 ���

��� !��"#"�$�%&'�()(*&))&�+,!$-�.-,/0�1-234,5#�6�)78) &'9(7':)9;**()))��33 "5$��<=>=?@2 *%7'%8&;*&%9))�A2$=,520�B=/5,5#� :)*'*C&;&&*&)&�</ D2/$>�.=E2� C%8'*&C;&88%)(�F++G1B�HI<<JGBH�K�I.GJG.GBHLI$,@,$,2� &7*;*(8*))�<AF+BHHGFM�J�HBANG1BH *9'(78;:&.F.�J

Page 30 of 96



��������� 	
��
����
���������������	������� ��������� ����������� �������� !"�#!$%�!&'�#!$%�()*+,!"-& $ .//01/23������������������� /440.563��������������� 71806.693����������������: %-;�<$$- $ /.0=86����������������������� 4>804>=����������������� 7.501859�������������������� !"�<$$- $ /.>01483������������������� =.60=183��������������� 7=/0.2=93����������������#*;;-& �?+!@+"+ +-$ 6808>43��������������������� 82>08=43��������������� 71>8028493���������������� !"�: %-;�?+!@+"+ +-$�� 12.0>85��������������������� 4.2051/����������������� 8.042.��������������������� !"�?+!@+"+ +-$ 1520==5��������������������� 6.>0=4=����������������� 71150=169����������������A*&'�B!"!&C- >15014/��������������������� 6=/0228����������������� ��DE��F�����������������GHIJK�LMJNMKMIMOP�JQR�STQR�UJKJQVO WXYZ[\]�̂����������������� _X̀Z_[]�̂������������� a_WZXb_c�̂��������������d�efMHf�gOJf�NJKJQVOP�JfO�hfOiJTRMI�JQR�PTNjOVI�IH�VkJQlOm�n��o� ��� p��o���qor��� s����qor���t;�u-; v��!w-$ 44602/23������������������� 48202223��������������� /.x/yz;!& $�{�#�& ;+@* +�&$ 406/5������������������������� 40/.50222�������������� 2x4y|-+}@*;$-}-& $ 8220644��������������������� .680.1/����������������� 62x6y|-& !"�~&C�}- ������������������������������ 540222������������������� 2x2y~& -;-$ 406.2������������������������� 10222���������������������� .8x5yGHIJK��O�OQTO \̀XZ̀̀ Y�̂����������������� [ZWb\ZX[W�̂���������� \����������� ��� p��o���qor��� s����qor���(}u"�v--�(wu-&$-$���!�-$0��!w-$�{�B-&-�+ $ 1640./>3������������������� 56404483��������������� 65y:��+C-��*uu"+-$�{�� +"+ +-$� >056>������������������������� /20222������������������� /y�!+& -&!&C-�{�|-u!+; 4=2����������������������������� 2����������������������������� 2y�;!,-"0��-!"$�{��;!+&+&� ������������������������������ 820222������������������� 2yt;��-$$+�&!"��-;,+C-$ .105=2����������������������� 8..0/22����������������� 4=y|-& !"�(wu-&$- ������������������������������ ��������������������������� 2yGHIJK���hOQPOP ][\Z\\[�̂����������������� \Zb[WZ_\]�̂���������� ]\�������������������������� ����¡�¢£�¤�������¥£��������¦§�������¦¡����¦�������̈�¦�¦¡��¤������¢�¦��

���������B�!;'�A+&!&C+!"�|-u�; ���©!$%@�!;'�����ª���ª����n����«����po���
��¬���p®
�̄��E����E��Ds�̄��E����E�F�s

	
��°�����������«��
�r����qor���
<C *!" B*'�- 

.5x82y1x26y2x2>y2x22y 11x>4yy������ !"�(wu-&$-$(}u"�v--�(wu-&$-$���!�-$0��!w-$�{�B-&-�+ $� + ++-$�{��*uu"+-$�!+& -&!&C-�{�|-u!+;�;!,-"0��-!"$�{��;!+&+&�t;��-$$+�&!"��-;,+C-$

Page 31 of 96



��������� 	
��
����
���������������	������� ��������� ����������� �������� !"�#!$%�!&'�#!$%�()*+,!"-& $ ./001/.023��������������� 4/56./4443����������� 1/557/0283�����������9 %-:�;$$- $ 7/266������������������������� 025/22<���������������� =07</62<>����������������� !"�;$$- $ ./008/7023��������������� 4/145/0013����������� 0/84</0603�����������#*::-& �?+!@+"+ +-$ 22/6613�������������������� 56/4<13���������������� 77/1163������������������ !"�9 %-:�?+!@+"+ +-$ A����������������������������� A������������������������� A��������������������������� !"�?+!@+"+ +-$ 22/661���������������������� 56/4<1������������������� 77/116�������������������B*&'�C!"!&D- ./5<1/700����������������� 4/126/27.������������� �E���E�F��������������GHIJK�LMJNMKMIMOP�JQR�STQR�UJKJQVO WXYYZX[Y\]�������������� X̂_̂ X̀YY_]���������� YXẐaXYbY]����������c�deMHe�fOJe�NJKJQVOP�JeO�geOhJTRMI�JQR�PTNiOVI�IH�VjJQkOl�m��n� ��� o��n���pnq��� r����pnq���s:�t-: u��!v-$ 1/141/8243��������������� 7/542/8063����������� 86w<xy:!& �z-,-&*- A����������������������������� A������������������������� {|;z-+}@*:$-}-& $ A����������������������������� A������������������������� {|;~& -:-$ A����������������������������� 7/266��������������������� 6w6xGHIJK��O�OQTO _X_̂_XZ\̂]�������������� [X̀abX_Yb]���������� Z̀���������� ��� o��n���pnq��� r����pnq���9��+D-��*tt"+-$���� +"+ +-$ 0/5663���������������������� 06/6663���������������� 55xs:��-$$+�&!"��-:,+D-$ 5<2/547�������������������� 5/70</052������������� 50xz-& �(vt-&$- ./666������������������������� 26/666������������������� 6xz-t!+:����!+& -&!&D- A����������������������������� 026/666���������������� 6x#!t+ !"�s:��-D $ 116/5<5�������������������� 1/617/14<������������� 55x�-@ ��-:,+D- A����������������������������� .51/<06���������������� 6x�!v-$����:!&$�-:$ A����������������������������� A������������������������� 6xGHIJK���gOQPOP \̀ X̂[_\]����������������� \X̂W\X_bY]���������� W���������	
��������������� ��� o��n���pnq��� r����pnq���?��-:�C�!:'}!&|9  !�!u�z+,-:�!"� A����������������������������� 5/666/666������������� 6x� ! -|C�!:'}!&|s+&-����A�!u�#�&,-:$+�& 7/787������������������������� 266/666���������������� 5x� :-- $D!t-$|�&����-" �s:��-D $ A����������������������������� 766/666���������������� 6xC!u�:�& ��!: ��:!+"�(&�+&--:+&�/��-$+�&/�#�&$ :*D +�& A����������������������������� 066/666���������������� 6x16.��-$ �B:�& �� :-- �� !+:D!$- 1/866������������������������� 566/666���������������� 7xz� !:u��)*!:- A����������������������������� 566/666���������������� 6x��@+"+ u�~}t"-}-& ! +�&�A�~&�:!$ :*D *:-�z-t!+: A����������������������������� 566/666���������������� 6x��@+"+ u�~}t"-}-& ! +�&�A����& ��&�#!}-:!$ A����������������������������� 550/786���������������� 6x��@+"+ u�~}t"-}-& ! +�&�A�Cz;�~& -:"�D!"�;�:--}-& 105/88<�������������������� 105/88<���������������� 566x��@+"+ u�~}t"-}-& ! +�&�A�� �:}�! -:�~}t:�,-}-& $ A����������������������������� 566/666���������������� 6x�+$D-""!&-�*$ A����������������������������� 566/666���������������� 6xGHIJK�deHiOVI���gOQPOP __bX̀à]����������������� _Xb_[X_̂a]���������� `̀����������������� �¡�¢ £� ¤ �¡�¥�¦§�̈ ���¢� ©§¢ �� ���ª«�����¢�ª¥ ���ª��� � �¬�ª�ª¥��̈����� ¦ ª��

������
�®�������������p��q�̄F�°�̄F±C�!:'�B+&!&D+!"�z-t�: �A��!$%@�!:'���������

�A �26/666 �566/666 �526/666 �066/666 �026/666 �166/666 �126/666 �766/666 �726/666 �266/666�?��-:�C�!:'}!&|9  !�!u�z+,-:�!"��� ! -|C�!:'}!&|s+&-����A�!u�#�&,-:$+�&�� :-- $D!t-$|�&����-" �s:��-D $�C!u�:�& ��!: ��:!+"�(&�+&--:+&�/��-$+�&/�#�&$ :*D +�&�16.��-$ �B:�& �� :-- �� !+:D!$-�z� !:u��)*!:-���@+"+ u�~}t"-}-& ! +�&�A�~&�:!$ :*D *:-�z-t!+:���@+"+ u�~}t"-}-& ! +�&�A����& ��&�#!}-:!$���@+"+ u�~}t"-}-& ! +�&�A�Cz;�~& -:"�D!"�;�:--}-& ���@+"+ u�~}t"-}-& ! +�&�A�� �:}�! -:�~}t:�,-}-& $��+$D-""!&-�*$

�?��-:C�!:'}!&|9  !�!uz+,-:�!"� � ! -|C�!:'}!&|s+&-����A�!u#�&,-:$+�& � :-- $D!t-$|�&����-" s:��-D $ �C!u�:�& ��!: �:!+"(&�+&--:+&�/�-$+�&/#�&$ :*D +�& �16.��-$ B:�& �� :-- � !+:D!$- �z� !:u��)*!:- ���@+"+ u~}t"-}-& ! +�&�A~&�:!$ :*D *:-z-t!+: ���@+"+ u~}t"-}-& ! +�&�A����& ��&#!}-:!$ ���@+"+ u~}t"-}-& ! +�&�A�Cz;~& -:"�D!";�:--}-& ���@+"+ u~}t"-}-& ! +�&�A�� �:}�! -:~}t:�,-}-& $��+$D-""!&-�*$�+$Dw A A A A A A A A 105/88< A A#�& :!D �: A 7/787 A A 1/866 A A A�*tt"+-$ A A A A A A A A

��������	
������²³����������³��

�+$Dw #�& :!D �: �*tt"+-$

�́E���E�µ��E��µr�́E��µE����E�µµr
	
��¶�����������®��
�q����pnq���

;D *!" C*'�- 

Page 32 of 96



��������� 	
��
����
���������������	������� ��������� ����������� �������� !"�#!$%�!&'�#!$%�()*+,!"-& $ ./012/3405����������������� ./.01/.2.5������������� 678/2805����������������9 %-:�;$$- $ <������������������������������� 13/12=�������������������� >13/12=?��������������������� !"�;$$- $ ./012/3405����������������� ./114/81=5������������� 642/7385����������������#*::-& �@+!A+"+ +-$ 872/7=.5�������������������� 8045������������������������ 87=/3215������������������ !"�9 %-:�@+!A+"+ +-$ <������������������������������� <��������������������������� <����������������������������� !"�@+!A+"+ +-$ 872/7=.���������������������� 804�������������������������� 87=/321������������������B*&'�C!"!&D- ./804/8=3������������������� ./1.0/072��������������� �E�FG��������������������HIJKL�MNKONLNJNPQ�KRS�TURS�VKLKRWP XYZ[\Y]̂Z_��������������� XY[[̂Ỳ[a_����������� b̂\Yc]̀_���������������d�efNIf�gPKf�OKLKRWPQ�KfP�hfPiKUSNJ�KRS�QUOjPWJ�JI�WkKRlPm�n��o� ��� p��o���qor��� s����qor���t:�u-: v��!w-$ 67=/8.65�������������������� 317/8165���������������� 30x7yz& -:-$ <������������������������������� .44�������������������������� 4x4yHIJKL�{P|PRUP bcaỲXb_������������������� ][cYa[b_��������������� ]Z}�~������� ��� p��o���qor��� s����qor���� +"+ +-$ .285���������������������������� <5������������������������� ��;t:��-$$+�&!"��-:,+D-$ 80/122������������������������ 747/737������������������ .2y9 %-:��t:+& +&��t*A"+$%+&�/��*uu"+-$ <������������������������������� .44�������������������������� 4y�-u!+:$����!+& -&!&D- <������������������������������� 24/444�������������������� 4y#!u+ !"�t:��-D $ <������������������������������� 763/.14������������������ 4yHIJKL���hPRQPQ Z̀Ỳĉ_��������������������� b̀XY\̂c_��������������� b}��������	
������~�������� ��� p��o���qor��� s����qor�����A+"+ v�z�u"-�-& ! +�&�<����& ��&�#!�-:!$ <������������������������������� 13/.14�������������������� 4y��A+"+ v�z�u"-�-& ! +�&�<�z&�:!$ :*D *:-��-u!+: <������������������������������� 74/444�������������������� 4y� :-- $D!u-$��&����-" �t:��-D $ <������������������������������� .44/444������������������ 4y�!&&!%�t!:��z�u:�,-�-& $ <������������������������������� 34/444�������������������� 4y�+,-:$�('�-��+,-:�!"���-D�+&���-u"!D-�-& <������������������������������� .74/444������������������ 4y�+$D-""!&-�*$ <������������������������������� .4/444�������������������� 4yHIJKL�efIjPWJ���hPRQPQ i_���������������������������� cb]YX[̂_��������������� }̂��������������� ¡�¢�£¡¤�¡¥¡�¢�¦�§̈ �©¡���£�¡ª̈£¡��¡���«¬�����£�«¦¡���«� �¡�¡��«�«¦��©�� � ¡§¡« �

���������C�!:'�B+&!&D+!"��-u�: �<��!$%A�!:'®�r���̄ ������°��
�±������������

�< �4 �4 �4 �4 �. �. �. �. �. �.���A+"+ v�z�u"-�-& ! +�&�<����& ��&�#!�-:!$���A+"+ v�z�u"-�-& ! +�&�<�z&�:!$ :*D *:-��-u!+:�� :-- $D!u-$��&����-" �t:��-D $��!&&!%�t!:��z�u:�,-�-& $��+,-:$�('�-��+,-:�!"���-D�+&���-u"!D-�-& ��+$D-""!&-�*$
���A+"+ vz�u"-�-& ! +�&�<���& ��&�#!�-:!$ ���A+"+ vz�u"-�-& ! +�&�<z&�:!$ :*D *:-�-u!+: �� :-- $D!u-$��&���-" �t:��-D $ ��!&&!%�t!:�z�u:�,-�-& $ ��+,-:$�('�-�+,-:�!"���-D�+&��-u"!D-�-& ��+$D-""!&-�*$�+$Dx < < < < < <#�& :!D �: < < < < < <�*uu"+-$ < < < < < <

��������	
������²³�~��������³��
�+$Dx #�& :!D �: �*uu"+-$

É�GF��E�F��Es�́��F����F�G�s
	
��µ�����������±��
�r����qor���

;D *!" C*'�- 

Page 33 of 96



REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT FOR TRAVERSE CITY 1/1Page: 09/16/2024 12:33 PM
User: nvanness
DB: Traverse City

PERIOD ENDING 08/31/2024

% BDGT
USED

UNENCUMBERED
BALANCE

ENCUMBERED
YEAR-TO-DATE

ACTIVITY FOR
MONTH 
08/31/24

YTD BALANCE
08/31/2024

2024-25
AMENDED BUDGETDESCRIPTIONGL NUMBER

Fund 107 - PUBLIC ARTS COMMISSION FUND
Revenues
Dept 000 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL

0.00 1,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,000.00 INTEREST & DIVIDEND EARNINGS107-000-664.000
0.00 15,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 15,000.00 CONTRIBUTIONS-PUBLIC SOURCES107-000-675.000
0.00 20,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 20,000.00 PRIOR YEARS' SURPLUS107-000-692.000
0.00 30,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 30,000.00 TRANSFERS IN107-000-699.000

0.00 66,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 66,000.00 Total Dept 000 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL

0.00 66,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 66,000.00 TOTAL REVENUES

Expenditures
Dept 000 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL

5.22 60,662.07 3,337.93 0.00 0.00 64,000.00 PROFESSIONAL AND CONTRACTUAL 107-000-801.000
0.00 2,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,000.00 REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE107-000-930.000

5.06 62,662.07 3,337.93 0.00 0.00 66,000.00 Total Dept 000 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL

5.06 62,662.07 3,337.93 0.00 0.00 66,000.00 TOTAL EXPENDITURES

100.00 3,337.93 (3,337.93)0.00 0.00 0.00 NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES

5.06 62,662.07 3,337.93 0.00 0.00 66,000.00 TOTAL EXPENDITURES
0.00 66,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 66,000.00 TOTAL REVENUES

Fund 107 - PUBLIC ARTS COMMISSION FUND:

Page 34 of 96



Downtown Development Authority 
303 E. State Street 

Traverse City, MI 49684 
harry@downtowntc.com 

      231-922-2050 
 
                   MEMORANDUM 

______________________________________________________________________ 
 
To:    Downtown Development Authority Board   
 
From:  Harry Burkholder, Executive Director 
 
Date:   September 15, 2024 
 
Re:    Two-Way Circulation Pilot Project  
 
 
Introduction  
As you recall, in November of 2022, the DDA and City implemented a two-year pilot 
project to convert State Street, Pine Street and Boardman Avenue to two-way traffic. As 
noted at the time of implantation, converting one-way streets to two-way operation has 
the potential to reinforce a “to” mobility strategy for downtown versus a “though” 
strategy. 
 
In moving forward with the project, DDA and City staff reiterated that the two-way pilot 
project would follow an iterative process. That is, after the initial modifications were 
made to the street network, the DDA and City would make additional modifications to 
the street network based on regular observations from DDA and City staff as well 
community feedback and the results of a formal data collection process. To that end, a 
handful of modifications have been implemented at key locations (mostly along State 
Street) over the last two years.   
 
In general, the two-way traffic conversion has been generally well received and is 
functional, but not without a handful of issues that have been more recently exacerbated 
by the reconstruction of Grandview Parkway.   
 
The two-year pilot project is set to expire in October. Therefore, the DDA and City need 
to determine next steps, which essentially includes three options: (1) end the pilot 
project and convert the three streets back to one-way traffic; (2) make the traffic 
conversion permanent (with or without some additional modifications); or (3) extend the 
pilot by another year, with some immediate modifications at key intersections and 
explore the possibility of additional modifications in 2025.  
 

Page 35 of 96



Suzanne Schultz, from Progressive AE, will be at our meeting on Friday to provide an 
overview of the project, as well as the data collected over the past year and potential 
next steps.    
 
Project Background and Observations  
In June of 2022, the DDA hired Progressive AE to investigate and study downtown 
circulation and the feasibility of potentially converting one-way streets in downtown to 
two-way operation. Like many downtowns (and cities) across the country, the DDA had 
been reconsidering the circulation pattern of several of its downtown streets, especially 
as the role of pedestrians and automobiles in downtown have evolved over recent 
years. This reconsideration of circulation patterns was further enhanced by a seasonal 
conversion to two-way traffic on a portion of State Street in 2020 when Front Street was 
closed to vehicles in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.  
 
In moving forward with the Circulation Study, the DDA noted that converting one-way 
streets to two-way operation (specifically State Street) had the potential to reinforce a 
“to” mobility strategy for downtown (versus a “though” strategy) and help realize a long-
held vision to create more walkable and active streets throughout all of downtown – 
similar to the pedestrian-friendly character and commercial vitality of Front Street.  
 
In addition, converting one-way streets to two-way operation has the potential to slow 
vehicular speeds and increase pedestrian safety, help enhance the public realm, 
encourage private investment of underdeveloped commercial areas and provide better 
connectivity to the existing grid-system. 
 
Then, in November of 2022, with approval from both the DDA Board and City 
Commission, the DDA and City partnered to convert traffic on State Street, Pine Street 
and Boardman Avenue from one-way traffic to two-way traffic under a two-year pilot. As 
noted at the time of implantation, the two-way pilot follows an iterative process. That is, 
based on observations from DDA and City staff as well community feedback, we would 
make small modifications to the pilot conversion.  
 
To that end, over the course of the last two years, we added additional signage along 
State Street, bagged a handful of meters/parking spots at key locations and painted 
new directional arrows and lane markers at the Cass Street intersection.    
 
In an effort to better understand the impacts of the two-way conversion with the 
community, the DDA created a unique email for this project to more directly solicit 
comments and suggestions throughout the project and also worked with City staff to 
facilitate an on-line survey of the Boardman Neighborhood. In general, over the course 
of the pilot the comments had been fairly positive, with complaints accompanied with 
suggestions for minor tweaks. However, over this past summer (and especially after 
Phase Two of the Grandview Parkway Reconstruction Project started), we have 
received numerous calls and emails concerned about the traffic flow along State Street 
(including specific frustrations about the lack of left-hand turning opportunities at the 

Page 36 of 96



Union and Cass intersections as well a traffic flow around the Front Street and Pine 
Street intersection.  
 
Over the course of the pilot project, the DDA and City convened many meetings with a 
committee made up of DDA Staff, City Staff (including planning, public works, streets 
communications and engineering) as well as staff from BATA to discuss how the two-
way conversion is working (in both the summer and winter) and address other concerns.  
 
In addition, over the course of the pilot, the DDA and City has worked with Progressive 
AE to formally monitor, track and evaluate the two-way conversion. This effort included 
tracking vehicular movement at ten downtown intersections, as well as pedestrian 
movement, vehicle speed, traffic volume, bicycle activity, parking utilization, and 
vehicular crashes. Data was collected over a 24-hour period, Thursday through 
Saturday during the last first week of March, mid-May, late July and late October of both 
2023 and 2024 (the last data collection activity is scheduled for October 24th – 26th).   
 
Again, Suzanne Schultz, from Progressive AE, will be at our meeting to provide an 
overview of the data collection process and results. Over the course of the two-year 
pilot, the data has demonstrated that:   
 
• The average vehicle speed is slightly slower 
• Traffic volumes are higher – eastbound volumes are higher than westbound (note, 

there are three westbound lanes in downtown if we include Front Street versus one 
eastbound lane).  

• Pedestrian volumes are higher  
 
In addition to the data collected through Progressive AE, it has been noted that: 
• Winter maintenance concerns were less pronounced in 2023 than expected (with 

lack of heavy snow) 
• The number of vehicular crashes has decreased 
• Parking utilization along State Street has increased  

 
What’s Next 
As previously mentioned, the two-way pilot is set to expire in October. Therefore, the 
DDA and City need to determine next steps, which includes three options: (1) end the 
pilot project and convert the three streets back to one-way traffic; (2) make the traffic 
conversion permanent (with or without some additional modifications); or (3) extend the 
pilot by another year, with some immediate modifications at key intersections and 
explore the possibility of additional modifications in the spring of 2025. Each of these 
options would require additional funding, which the DDA has allocated for in our 2024-
2025 budget. 
 
I can report that the city’s Design Team (an internal team of city department heads that 
meet every week to discuss and make decisions and then recommendations to the City 
Commission on city projects and includes the DDA Executive Director), has not formally 
made a recommendation about how to proceed with the end of the two-year pilot, but 

Page 37 of 96



will be waying all options upon additional review of data. The third option – to extend the 
pilot by another year, with some immediate signalization modifications at key 
intersections and explore the possibility of additional modifications in the spring of 2025 
has been discussed most recently. To that end, we have secured cost estimates to add 
left hand turn arrows (for westbound traffic) at the State and Cass Street intersection 
and State and Union Street intersection. We believe this potential modification will 
address some of the more immediate concerns and complaints related to traffic flow at 
these intersections. An additional year of the pilot could also provide an opportunity to 
study the possible expansion of two-way circulation to Front Street. This opportunity 
would include another, more formal, round of public engagement – the results of which 
may or may not demonstrate support for such a conversion.  
As previously mentioned, each of these options would require additional funding support 
from the DDA.      
 
National Context 
In the post-war era and beyond, the goals of improved throughput for vehicles and easy 
access in and out of downtown job centers guided transportation and land use policy. 
However, this philosophy has changed. While vehicular circulation remains an important 
element, pedestrian and bicycle movement in now leading transportation and land use 
(as well as placemaking and economic) policy in many downtowns, including Traverse 
City. Writing in 2018, urbanist Jeff Speck cited 78 major U.S. cities that have converted 
one-way streets back to two-way operation. In Michigan, cities like Kalamazoo, Lansing 
and Detroit are currently working to convert long-dedicated one-way streets back to two-
way operation.  
 
The current one-way street configuration in Traverse City was established in 1967 
under similar rationale. As noted above, the DDA and City facilitated a seasonal 
conversion to two-way operation on a portion of State Street in 2020 when Front Street 
was closed to vehicles during the pandemic. Despite limited infrastructure investments 
for the seasonal conversion, vehicular disruptions were minimal, traffic speeds were 
slower and the DDA generally received positive feedback from the community.  
 
Discussion and Feedback 
At this time, I am not asking the DDA for a formal recommendation, but rather some 
discussion and feedback about the pilot project and the three options moving forward.   
As previously noted, we still do not have a formal recommendation from the city’s 
Design Team and the final decision on which option to move forward with will be made 
by the City Commission.   
 
 
  
 
  

Page 38 of 96



Two-Way Data Collection

City Design Team

AUGUST 20, 2024

Page 39 of 96



AGENDA

1. Background

2. Initial Observations

3. Improvements After Implementation

4. Ongoing Traffic Data Collection

5. 2023/2024 Data Comparison

Page 40 of 96



BACKGROUND

Page 41 of 96



BACKGROUND AND SCHEDULE

October 2022 - Initiated engineering of two-way 

conversion of State Street

November 2022 – State Street converted to two-way  

March 2023 – October 2023 – Year 1 traffic data 

collection 

June 2023 – Minor adjustments – signs, pavement 

markings, dynamic message signs 

March 2024 – October 2024 – Year 2 traffic data 

collection 

Page 42 of 96



INITIAL OBSERVATIONS

Page 43 of 96



INITIAL OBSERVATIONS

Northbound Pine Street Curve

Northbound curve narrows, resulting in removal of 

parking spaces  

Eastbound State Street – Cass Street Intersection

Lane assignments at intersection are misinterpreted 

between through/turn lanes

Painted Bulb-Outs

Implementation of bulb-outs with flexible posts at 

Front Street – Boardman Avenue and Front Street 

– Pine Street

Front Street – Pine Street Sign Relocation

Sign relocated from center median to side of street

Page 44 of 96



IMPROVEMENTS FOLLOWING 
IMPLEMENTATION

Page 45 of 96



IMPROVEMENTS MADE 
FOLLOWING IMPLEMENTATION

Temporary Message Board Installed at State Street –

Cass Street

Eastbound lane assignment signs installed

Parking westbound bagged per the Fire Department 

on curve to NB Pine

Parking westbound bagged just west of Cass per 

the request of a local business

Centerline striping for eastbound vehicles at Cass 

to promote lane shift

Page 46 of 96



ONGOING TRAFFIC DATA COLLECTION

Page 47 of 96



ONGOING TRAFFIC DATA COLLECTION

Propose collecting traffic data at ten (10) locations along 

Front Street and State Street

Data collected using radar units and Miovision cameras

Data has been collected during the following timeframe:

2023 – Year 1

• March 2023

• May 2023

• July 2023

• October 2023

2024 – Year 2

• March 2024

• May 2024

• July 2024

• October 2024 – Scheduled for Oct 24-26

Page 48 of 96



TRAFFIC DATA 

COLLECTION LOCATIONS

Ten (10) locations selected for 

traffic data collection:

• Front Street – Hall Street

• Front Street – Pine Street

• Front Street – Union Street

• Front Street – Cass Street

• Front Street – Park Street

• Front Street – Boardman Avenue

• State Street – Union Street

• State Street – Cass Street

• State Street – Park Street

• State Street – Boardman Avenue

Page 49 of 96



YEAR 1 DATA RESULTS

Page 50 of 96



2022 DATA  AND OBSERVATIONS

Vehicle Speed (segments averaged):

October 85% 26 Average 22

Vehicle Volume (average for segment):

State Street

CombinedL2L1

Location
85th (mph)

Average 

(mph)
Counts85th (mph)

Average 

(mph)
Counts85th (mph)

Average 

(mph)
Counts

2722.539422621.615702823.32372Between Pine & Union

26223481------Between Union & Cass

---------Between Cass & Park

2620.944452420.128452922.31599Between Park & Boardman

Page 51 of 96



AFTER CONVERSION DATA RESULTS

Page 52 of 96



2023 - 2024 DATA  AND OBSERVATIONS
2023 Vehicle Volume (average for segment):

CombinedWestboundEastbound

OctoberJulyMayMarchOctoberJulyMayMarchOctoberJulyMayMarchLocation

State Street

564450795313514216231372143011504020370738833992
Between Pine St & 

Union St

581573196399599615821778420713391582554121934657
Between Union St & 

Cass St

54595389617649931165121212769541165417749004039
Between Cass St & 

Park St

25242593227916779499267844891575166714961188
Between Boardman 

Ave & Wellington St

Front Street

416858346399-416858346399-----
Between Union St & 

Cass St

483455615206-110841673808-372613941398-
Between Boardman 

Ave & Wellington St

2024 Vehicle Volume (average for segment):

CombinedWestboundEastbound

OctoberJulyMayMarchOctoberJulyMayMarchOctoberJulyMayMarchLocation

State Street

758766304416347029541356411836763060
Between Pine St & 

Union St

941174813328446660833015
Between Union St & 

Cass St

948781027372303131451907645749575464
Between Cass St & 

Park St

690761613885204030224121
Between Boardman 

Ave & Wellington St

Front Street

44804397-4480*4397*----
Between Union St & 

Cass St

19782282-798759-11801522-
Between Boardman 

Ave & Wellington St

* One lane volume. Tube was damaged for the second lane

Page 53 of 96



2023 - 2024 DATA  AND OBSERVATIONS

2023 - 85TH Percentile Vehicle Speed (average for the segment):

CombinedWestboundEastbound

OctoberJulyMayMarchOctoberJulyMayMarchOctoberJulyMayMarchLocation

State Street

252525272727232425
Between Pine St & 

Union St

232325222224232425
Between Union St & 

Cass St

252626252525252626
Between Cass St & 

Park St

262525242325262625
Between Boardman 

Ave & Wellington St

Front Street

1717-1717----`
Between Union St & 

Cass St

2323-2222-2425-
Between Boardman 

Ave & Wellington St

CombinedWestboundEastbound`

OctoberJulyMayMarchOctoberJulyMayMarchOctoberJulyMayMarchLocation

State Street

242525252726222425
Between Pine St & 

Union St

232522262424
Between Union St & 

Cass St

232425222326242425
Between Cass St & 

Park St

252426262122
Between Boardman 

Ave & Wellington St

Front Street

1920-1920----
Between Union St & 

Cass St

2425-2425-2324-
Between Boardman 

Ave & Wellington St

2024 - 85TH Percentile Vehicle Speed (average for the segment):

Page 54 of 96



2023 - 2024 DATA  AND OBSERVATIONS

Pedestrian Volume - 2023

October - 2023July - 2023May - 2023March - 2023

Intersection Saturday 

Peak

Friday 

Peak
PMAM

Saturday 

Peak

Friday 

Peak
PMAM

Saturday 

Peak

Friday 

Peak
PMAM

Saturday 

Peak

Friday 

Peak
PMAM

State Street at:

394936433348250118661091377226137102609Union Street

4509676336703631929534716995572561048139Cass Steet

193713539242300159761591308032134796113Park Street

16545302611010075396344351862413720Boardman Avenue

Front Street at:

1857523162711336758129855324130454210Hall Street

26479555422414311688138851458172302029Pine Street

9781541153812839503821236303952818257521212729Union Street

1082405277461023118546581110474947438102838123126Cass Street

8632371223525241863971916364562583741619520353Park Street

1964631145273281322732419384712453295Boardman Avenue

Pedestrian Volume - 2024:

October - 2024July - 2024May - 2024March - 2024

Intersection Saturday 

Peak

Friday 

Peak
PMAM

Saturday 

Peak

Friday 

Peak
PMAM

Saturday 

Peak

Friday 

Peak
PMAM

Saturday 

Peak

Friday 

Peak
PMAM

State Street at:

46531523455232151125291711206623Union Street

8163592808637315712235182682927Cass Steet

1851901424917517015224157754118Park Street

1359812135-67113-82403311Boardman Avenue

Front Street at:

89142138-149966926----Hall Street

206103151-167793933158443944Pine Street

89376853465655420184407102018315Union Street

182016301168105107878643641136949417817Cass Street

811693603955265342654472019114733Park Street

20638319619320305862113339423Boardman Avenue

Page 55 of 96



2023 - 2024 DATA  AND OBSERVATIONS

Bicycle Volume – July 2023 Vs July 2024:

July 2024July 2023

Intersection PMAMPMAM

Total5-64-5Total8-97-8Total5-64-5Total8-97-8

State Street

75383732211149282118117Union Street

573522251694826221394Cass Steet

6530351511449282121138Park Street

72393321147653431261610Boardman Avenue

Front Street

856223---34161822148Hall Street

563026---2491517107Pine Street

55381711569541183Union Street

5935241511443222120146Cass Street

26188157837251224195Park Street

44251974312841578Boardman Avenue

Page 56 of 96



OBSERVATIONS

The conversion has been generally well received by 

the public.

Speeds were slightly higher in October 2022 than 

two-way volumes in October 2023. We will compare 

this with October 2024 data.

Traffic volumes are higher in 2024 than in 2023. 

This might signify an increase useability of the 

segment.

Winter maintenance concerns were less 

pronounced in 2023 than expected. Winter seasons 

did not have an abundance of significant snowfall 

events.

The engineering and project team continue to 

monitor the State Street and Cass Intersection, 

State Street and Union Intersection, and Pine 

Street and Front Street Intersection.

Pedestrian volumes continued to be higher 

during Saturday traffic peak in both 2023 & 

2024.

Eastbound volumes are higher than Westbound 

in both 2023 & 2024.

Pedestrian volumes continued to be higher 

during Saturday traffic peak in both 2023 & 

2024.

July continues to be the month with the highest 

pedestrian activities.

Vehicle Speed (segments averaged) continues to be:

March 85% 25 Average 21

May 85% 25 Average 20

July 85% 25 Average 20

Bicyclist activities are higher during the 

evening than in the morning.

Bicyclist activities were higher in July 2024 

than in July 2024.

Page 57 of 96



Page 58 of 96



  

 
 

 
 

 
Downtown Development Authority 

303 E. State Street 
Traverse City, MI 49684 

harry@downtowntc.com 
      231-922-2050 

       
Memorandum 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
To:   DDA Board 
 
From:  Harry Burkholder, Executive Director  
 
Date:  September 16, 2024 
 
Subject: Traverse Connect Contract 
 
 
The Downtown Development Authority has contracted and collaborated with Traverse 
Connect since 2020 on a variety of projects and studies to support downtown 
businesses, drive talent and entrepreneurial attraction efforts and ensure economic 
growth and community development in Downtown Traverse City and the greater Grand 
Traverse region.  
 
For example, emerging from the COVID-19 pandemic, the DDA contracted with 
Traverse Connect to assess the needs and barriers for downtown businesses and 
evaluate the overall economic environment of the downtown. The resulting survey and 
report from this assessment called for bold experimentation with a focus on speed, 
innovation, and creativity to address the uncertainty and difficulty of the post-COVID 
recovery. Recommendations included experimenting with ways to reduce financial 
uncertainty and providing more direct mentoring and support services for businesses to 
jump-start economic growth.  
 
To address these recommendations and the existing DDA strategic plan goals, the DDA 
established objectives for an additional contract with Traverse Connect, which included 
a marketing plan for professional business attraction, continued talent attraction efforts, 
collecting vacancy rate data, and the development of a retail incubator concept. From 
this effort, the DDA took steps to develop the move forward the Cass Street retail 
incubator.  
 
More recently, Traverse Connect has helped to disseminate information, convene 
workshops, and provide support for the TIF tool and the Moving Downtown Forward TIF 
Plan.  
 

Page 59 of 96



  

 
 

 
 

In addition to these direct support efforts, Traverse Connect has supported their efforts 
to enhance the competitiveness of the region by helping to lead collaboration between 
private and public sectors, address workforce needs and support business attraction 
and retainment efforts.  
 
Traverse Connect has also been updating the DDA with their growth barometer, 
ecosystem, and annual reports. 
 
Moving Forward  
Traverse Connect has proposed a new professional services contract for a term of one 
year (2024 – 2025), for a compensation of $42,000, with an option to renew for future 
years.   
 
This past April, Traverse Connect President and CEO Warren Call presented to the 
DDA Board - outlining and discussing some of our previous collaborative efforts and 
highlighting the scope of work and deliverables of their proposed service contract (see 
attached). Noting the value and important relationship of the partnership, the DDA 
Board allocated and approved $42,000 of professional services from Traverse Connect 
in the 2024/2025 Budget ($37,000 from TIF-97 and ($5,000 from Old Town TIF).  
 
Warren Call will be at our meeting on Friday, should you have additional questions. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION 
That the DDA Board enter into a one-year contract with Traverse Connect for $42,000, 
$37,000 coming from TIF-97 and $5,000 coming from Old Town TIF, subject to approval 
as to its from and substance by the DDA Attorney.  
 
 
   

Page 60 of 96



 

 
 
 
 

 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES CONTRACT 

Between Traverse City’s Downtown Development Authority and Traverse Connect 
 

THIS AGREEMENT is entered into this 1st day of October, 2024, by and between Traverse City’s 
Downtown Development Authority, hereinafter referred to as "DDA" and Traverse Connect, a non-profit 
corporation, qualified to do business in the State of Michigan, hereinafter referred to as "Connect."  

 
RECITALS  

 
WHEREAS, DDA desires to encourage the commercial and economic development of DDA and 

surrounding region, the retention, expansion and attraction of employment opportunities within DDA 
and region, and increase the property tax base of DDA; and 

 
WHEREAS, Traverse Connect is the economic development organization for the Grand Traverse 

Region and exists to drive economic growth by providing business expansion, talent development, and 
business attraction efforts, and supporting development and infrastructure enhancements; and   

 
WHEREAS, Connect advocates, promotes, and facilitates activities which support the growth and 

expansion of existing business and attraction of new primary sector business, by providing targeted lead 
generation and support to business prospects; maintaining a repository of data on the region’s 
economy; undertaking regional marketing through publications and media; and  

 
WHEREAS, DDA and Connect, as partners in economic development, wish to support one 

another in building a stronger regional economy and increasing family-sustaining jobs, property tax 
base, and economic diversification;  

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by DDA and Connect that in consideration of the mutual 

promises set forth herein, it is agreed as follows: 
 
 

1. The Parties Agree on the following purpose: 
 

a. The purpose of this agreement is to enter into a partnership for the planning and 
implementation of economic development strategies as outlined in the Traverse 
Connect Strategic Plan, including leading regional economic development strategy, 
providing business expansion services, managing talent attraction, and implementing 
business attraction programs, as well as supporting entrepreneurship and innovation, 

Page 61 of 96



community development, and public sector development and infrastructure.  
 

b. DDA will provide oversight and coordination as may be required to support the 
objectives of this agreement and will provide funding for the services as detailed below.  

 
2. The Parties Agree on the following scope of services: 

 
A. Economic and Community Development Leadership: Connect will work to enhance the 

competitiveness of the Grand Traverse regional economy by leading collaboration between 
private and public sector partners.  

 
I. Connect shall act as the lead convenor for the region, engaging partners and 

investor organizations of all sizes by holding regular meetings with municipal 
officials and public sector partners, the development of industry cluster forum 
groups, and regional economic strategy and policy events to foster local business 
growth and a supportive entrepreneurial ecosystem.  

 
II. Connect shall support DDA’s efforts to drive regional collaboration by coordinating 

with the County and other local municipalities and partner organizations on 
economic development projects, public policy initiatives, community programs, 
regional infrastructure plans, and workforce support related to training, housing, 
and childcare in Grand Traverse County and across the region.  
 

B. Talent-Oriented Economic Development: Connect will work to address workforce needs 
and labor shortages by addressing specific workforce challenges including workforce 
development, talent attraction, housing solutions, childcare availability, placemaking 
initiatives, and employee training programs.  

 
I. Connect shall oversee talent attraction and development in the region by partnering 

with education and training providers to grow our workforce, work with employers 
to address wage/cost of living gaps, promote existing family-sustaining wage 
opportunities in the Grand Traverse Region, and promote the development and 
expansion of apprenticeship and internship programs for local employers. 

 
II. Connect shall coordinate workforce training and communications strategy with 

professional services, health sciences, manufacturing, and skilled trades industry 
professionals, educators, training organizations to promote the attractiveness of 
local employment opportunities.  

 
III. Connect shall feature the Grand Traverse Region’s (including DDA), businesses, 

education, cultural, and infrastructure assets in the Michigan’s Creative Coast 
national placemaking and marketing program. Engage potential business owners, 

Page 62 of 96



employees, and entrepreneurs to promote the region as a year-round economic, 
lifestyle, natural resources, and cultural destination. Continue and broaden reach of 
Michigan’s Creative Coast recruiting resources to promote job board, internship 
portal, regional resources, and Northern Navigators welcome program. 

 
C. Targeted-Industry Business Attraction: While the overall Michigan’s Creative Coast program 

appeals to a broad spectrum of businesses in innovation and professional services, it is also 
valuable to outline specific sectors for recruitment. This will drive investment and encourage 
business formation and the development of additional ‘anchor’ companies located in our 
region.  

 
I. Identify and define the types of businesses to recruit to the region and outline the 

features and benefits that are most attractive and decisive for these firms. Connect 
shall foster industry cluster development by attracting companies, researchers, 
studies, and conference events that draw upon our region’s existing economic, 
educational, and geographic assets and engage higher education institutions to 
initiate research and technology transfer for industries such as manufacturing, 
marine technology, blue economy, rural health innovation, and unmanned aerial 
systems.  

 
II. Outline the unique value proposition, talking points, and messaging to appeal to 

target market businesses. Feature existing businesses, infrastructure, and cultural 
assets in a tailored plan that promotes our comprehensive entrepreneurial 
ecosystem. Continue digital marketing campaign to actively market the regional 
business environment via web and digital media. Provide reporting on marketing 
data, target company analytics, and campaign reach with recommendations for 
expanding firm recruitment over time.  

 
D. Programs and Resources for Regional Businesses: Connect will provide direct support for 

the expansion and retention of established businesses, early-stage companies, and key non-
profit employers across the County and the region.  

 
I. Connect shall provide targeted outreach, customized data, and tailored resources to 

address industry-specific needs and barriers to support business and job growth 
focused on manufacturing, skilled trades, technology, value-added agriculture, 
institutional employers, and early-stage growth companies. Connect shall 
collaborate with partner organizations, including Networks Northwest, Michigan 
Works, the Small Business Development Corporation, Venture North, 20Fathoms, 
TCNewTech, and the Michigan Economic Development Corportation to coordinate 
development and to conduct annual site visits.  

 
II. Connect shall market, promote, and assist in the deployment of local economic 

Page 63 of 96



development tools and incentives, including Brownfield, Renaissance, Landbank, 
Pace Financing, Pilot Programs, and Tax-Exempt Revenue Bonds. 

 
3. Progress and Outcome Reporting: 

 
A. Connect shall publish a regional data dashboard, economic development metrics, and 

periodic reports as the central point of contact for communication regarding economic 
growth and prosperity in the Grand Traverse Region. Data that is collected and housed by 
Traverse Connect will inform strategy development and be shared with DDA and other 
public sector partners. 

 
B. Connect shall make available to DDA all the services, including economic development, 

government relations, professional development, chamber networking, and technical 
assistance, which are currently being offered by Connect or which may be offered in the 
future. 
 

C. Connect shall provide DDA with periodic reports on all activities conducted and successful 
outcomes achieved pursuant to this Agreement and all other pertinent economic 
development project activities that may affect DDA. Connect shall also attend meetings 
upon request of DDA Staff and Board of Directors to present such verbal or written reports 
on its activities. The reports include; 
 

 Quarterly Growth Barometer Report 
 Bi-Annual Economic Ecosystem Report 
 Annual Regional Data Dashboard Update 
 Traverse Connect Annual Report 

 
4. Term:  

The term of this Professional Services Agreement shall be for the period of October 1, 2024, 
through September 30, 2025, with the option to renew for future years.  It is understood that 
this Professional Services Agreement requires the review and approval of the DDA Board. 
Traverse Connect's attainment of private sector funding shall be viewed favourably by the DDA 
Board in any deliberations to extend the Professional Services Agreement and extend existing, 
or increased, City funding contributions to Connect in 2024 and subsequent budget years. 
 

5. Compensation:  
DDA shall pay forty-two thousand dollars ($42,000) to Connect in a single payment no later than 
October 31, 2024 for the first year of this contract. Compensation for future years of this 
agreement, if applicable, shall be increased by three percent (3%) annually commencing on the 
one-year anniversary date. Connect shall be responsible for its expenses, including out of pocket 
expenses, in providing services to DDA.  

 

Page 64 of 96



6. Independent Contractor Status:  
The relationship of Connect to DDA is that of an independent contractor and in accordance 
therewith, the Consultant covenants and agrees to conduct itself consistent with such status 
and that neither it nor its employees, officers or agents will claim to be an officer, employee or 
agent of DDA or make any claim, demand or application to or for any rights or privileges 
applicable to any officer or employee of same, including but not limited to worker's 
compensation coverage, unemployment insurance benefits, social security coverage, or 
retirement membership or credit. The parties do not intend the services provided by the 
Consultant to be a joint venture. Traverse Connect shall be deemed to be an independent 
contractor with full control over the manner and method of its performance hereunder. 

 
7. Written Amendment Required:  

No amendment, modification, or waiver of any condition, provision or term shall be valid or of 
any effect unless made in writing signed by the party or parties to be bound, or a duly 
authorized representative, and specifying with particularity the extent and nature of such 
amendment, modification or waiver. Any waiver by any party of any default of another party 
shall not affect or impair any right arising from any subsequent default. Except as expressly and 
specifically stated otherwise, nothing herein shall limit the remedies and rights of the parties 
thereto under and pursuant to this Agreement. 

 
8. Severability Clause:  

Each provision, section, sentence, clause, phrase, and word of this Agreement is intended to be 
severable. If any provision, section, sentence, clause, phrase, and word hereof is held by a court 
with jurisdiction to be illegal or invalid for any reason whatsoever, such illegality or invalidity 
shall not affect the validity of the remainder of this Agreement. 

 
9. Agreement Binding on Successors:  

This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their 
respective personal representatives, successors and assigns. 

 
10. Michigan law Applies:  

This Agreement shall be controlled by the laws of the State of Michigan, and any action brought 
as a result of any claim, demand or cause of action arising under the terms of this Agreement 
shall be brought in an appropriate venue in the State of Michigan. 
 

11. Dispute Resolution:  
 
If any party has a dispute with another regarding the meaning, operation, or enforcement of any 
provision of this Agreement, the disputing parties agree to meet and confer to negotiate a 
resolution of the dispute.  All meetings, hearings and actions to resolve the dispute shall be in 
Grand Traverse County.  They further agree if they are unable to resolve the dispute themselves 
and before formally instituting any other dispute mechanism, they shall utilize the services of a 

Page 65 of 96



mutually acceptable neutral mediator, who meets the qualifications of MCR 2.411, to bring 
them together in at least one mediation session. 
 

12. Termination:   
Whenever DDA determines that termination of this Agreement in whole or in part is in the best 
interest of DDA or in the event that termination is required by any state or federal agency, DDA 
Manager may terminate this Agreement by written notice to Connect specifying the services 
terminated and the effective date of such termination, which shall not be less than one hundred 
twenty (120) days from the date notice is given to Connect.  Upon termination, Connect shall be 
entitled to and DDA shall pay the costs actually incurred in compliance with this Agreement until 
the date of such termination. At the date of such termination, DDA shall be reimbursed a pro-
rated amount of the initial payment. 

 
13. Non-Discrimination: 

The parties agree not to discriminate against an employee or applicant for employment with 
respect to hire, tenure, terms, conditions or privileges of employment, or a matter directly or 
indirectly related to employment because of their actual or perceived race, color, religion, 
national origin, sex, age, height, weight, marital status, physical or mental disability, family 
status, sexual orientation, or gender identity.  Breach of this covenant may be regarded as a 
material breach of this Agreement. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Professional Services Contract as of the day and 
year first above written. 
 
 
TRAVERSE CITY DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY: 
 
        
____________________________ 
Harry Burkholder, Executive Director  
        
 
 
 
 
TRAVERSE CONNECT: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Warren Call, President & CEO 
 

Page 66 of 96



  

 
 

 
 

 
Downtown Development Authority 

303 E. State Street 
Traverse City, MI 49684 

harry@downtowntc.com 
      231-922-2050 

       
Memorandum 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
To:   DDA Board 
 
From:  Harry Burkholder, Executive Director  
 
Date:  September 16, 2024 
 
Subject: Rehmann Contract 
 
 
Last year, the Downtown Development Authority began working with Rehmann to 
facilitate a number of financial and accounting services for the DDA. Rehmann is a 
professional accounting and business solutions firm, with associates in three states and 
an office in Traverse City.   
 
Rehmann’s work has proven to be exceptional and very helpful in budget development, 
as well as day-to-day, monthly and annual financial accounting services. As you may be 
aware, Rehmann provides the financial report and matrix for each DDA Board meeting, 
among other services.  
 
The DDA’s previous agreement has expired and Rehmann has proposed a new 
professional services contract (please see engagement letter attached) for a term of 
one year and for a not-to-exceed cost of $83,160. Funding for these financial and 
accounting services are accounted for in our budget. The proposed scope of services is 
included in Appendix A of the engagement letter, and lists accounting and advisory 
services which include, but may not be limited to: 
 

• Weekly Accounts Payable 
• Preparation of 1099’s and the 1096 
• Monthly credit card transactions – data entry and coding  
• Monthly banking activity – data entry and coding  
• Monthly posting of journal entries – depreciation, amortization, credit card charges 
• Monthly balance sheet account reconciliations – bank account and credit card 

reconciliations   
• Preparation of payroll tax returns 
• Annual year-end accounting adjustments and closing of books  

Page 67 of 96



  

 
 

 
 

• Monthly accounting services management – balance sheet, income statement, 
accounts receivable, and accounts payable  

• Budgeting and Forecasting  
• As needed assistance and monthly management reporting and consultation  

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION 
That the DDA Board enter into a one-year contract with Rehmann for a not-to-exceed 
amount of $83,160, subject to approval as to its from and substance by the DDA 
Attorney.  
 
 
   

Page 68 of 96



 

 

  
 

June 24, 2024 
 
 
Harry Burkholder 
Traverse City Downtown Development Authority 
303 E. State St.  
Traverse City, MI 49684 
 
 
This letter is to confirm our understanding of the terms and objectives of our engagement and the nature and 
limitation of the Accounting and Advisory Services we will provide. At your request and under your direction, we will 
perform the following services: 
 

• Accounting and advisory services as described in Appendices A and B 
 
Our work in connection with this engagement is not intended to result in the submission or issuance of financial 
statements as defined by the AICPA’s Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services. 
 
A successful working relationship requires a significant commitment on our part, as well as yours. You are responsible 
to make staff available during our ongoing work with you, provide timely responses to questions and calls for 
decisions, and devote the resources necessary to achieve the objectives of the engagement. If the information you 
provide is not submitted in a timely manner or is incomplete or unusable, we reserve the right to charge additional 
fees and expenses for services required to correct the problem and/or update your accounting records upon receipt 
of past-due information. If this occurs, we will contact you to discuss the matter and the anticipated delay in 
performing our services. We reserve the right to suspend or terminate our work, with 10 days prior notice, except in 
the event of nonpayment or other material default on your part, in which case we may suspend or terminate our work 
immediately upon notice to you. Upon suspension or termination, we will use commercially reasonable efforts to 
transfer any information in our possession to the Company or its designated representative.  
 
Hardware and Software Warranties 
During the course of the engagement, we may recommend a purchase and installation of computer or technological 
hardware, software, communications, or services by your company. Warranties, to the extent they exist, are provided 
only by the manufacturer/developer/vendor of those computer or software products. We will do our best to provide 
appropriate recommendations when available, but the final decision and responsibility to purchase any computer or 
software products is at your sole discretion.   
 
Computer Consulting 
This engagement does not include consulting work on your network, computer hardware, windows configuration, 
mapping of drives or any other computer related issues. It is your obligation to ensure that you have access to the 
internet in order to work with the software solutions and other “cloud-based” applications that we will use as a core 
part of the services we provide to you. We can, as a separate engagement, assist you with managed IT services to 
ensure that you have assistance available when technology needs arise. 
 
Corporate Transparency Act/Beneficial Ownership Reporting  
Assisting you with your compliance with the Corporate Transparency Act (“CTA”), including beneficial ownership 
information (“BOI”) reporting, is not within the scope of this engagement. You have sole responsibility for your 
compliance with the CTA, including its BOI reporting requirements and the collection of relevant ownership 
information. We shall have no liability resulting from your failure to comply with CTA. If you wish to engage Rehmann 
to assist with these services, and we determine it is appropriate, a separate engagement letter will be provided 
detailing the scope of the project.  
 

Page 69 of 96



Harry Burkholder 
Traverse City Downtown Development Authority 
June 24, 2024 
Page 2 
 
 
Information regarding the BOI reporting requirements can be found at https://www.fincen.gov/boi. Consider 
consulting with legal counsel if you have questions regarding the applicability of the CTA’s reporting requirements 
and issues surrounding the collection of relevant ownership information.  
 
Your Investment 
Your financial investment in your ongoing services with us as well as the scope of our services with you is outlined in 
Appendix B of this agreement.  Fees will be analyzed on a quarterly basis.  If the volume of ongoing transaction 
processing, the complexity of the services you request, or other matters change relating to the services we are 
providing to you, we will communicate any related change in our fees to you by providing a minimum of 30 days written 
notice.     
 
Requests for Additional Services — Change Order 
We believe it is our responsibility to exceed your expectations and as part of that goal we want to ensure that you are 
never surprised by the price for any service we provide. Therefore, we have adopted a Change Order Policy. If you 
request that we provide services beyond those outlined in this agreement we will be happy to provide you with a 
Change Order outlining the scope of that request, our fees, and anticipated timeline for those services.   Although we 
strive to meet your needs, we reserve the right to decline a request for additional services that is outside the scope of 
services we provide, our expertise or for any other reason.  A Change Order Request form is provided in Appendix C. 
Any such requests will be considered addendums to this agreement. 

While we will update our engagement letter on an annual basis, it is understood that the scope and terms of this letter 
will remain in effect until the subsequent year’s letter is signed and returned to us.   
 
This engagement letter, including the attached Rehmann Accounting Services Engagement Letter Terms and 
Conditions which are incorporated herein by reference as if set forth within the body of this engagement letter in their 
entirety, reflect the entire understanding between us relating to the accounting services covered by this agreement. 
It replaces and supersedes any previous proposals, correspondence, and understandings, whether written or oral. The 
agreements of the Company and Rehmann contained in this document shall survive the completion or termination of 
this engagement. If any term hereof is found unenforceable or invalid, this shall not affect the other terms hereof, all 
of which shall continue in effect as if the stricken term had not been included.  
 
We appreciate the opportunity to be of service to Traverse City Downtown Development Authority and believe this 
letter accurately summarizes the significant terms of our engagement. If the Company has any questions, please let 
us know. If the Company agrees with the terms of our engagement as described in this letter, please sign the enclosed 
copy and return it to us. 
 

  
 
Stephen M. Peacock, CPA 
Principal, Rehmann 
 
 

Page 70 of 96

https://www.fincen.gov/boi


Harry Burkholder 
Traverse City Downtown Development Authority 
June 24, 2024 
Page 3 
 
 
This letter correctly sets forth the understanding of Traverse City Downtown Development Authority. 
 
ACKNOWLEDGED AND ACCEPTED: 
 
  
Officer Signature 
 
  
Printed Name  
 
  
Title 
 
  
Date 
 
 

Page 71 of 96



Rehmann Accounting and Advisory Services Engagement Letter Terms 
 
INFORMAL ADVICE - As part of our engagement we may provide 
advice on operating and other matters that come to our attention.  
Informal advice is not considered to be a consulting service unless 
we have entered into a separate engagement. 
 
ACCURACY AND COMPLETENESS OF INFORMATION - 
Management agrees to ensure that all information provided to us is 
accurate complete, and consistent in all material respects, contains 
no material omissions and is updated on a prompt and continuous 
basis.  Rehmann shall be entitled to rely on all information provided 
by and decisions and approvals of the Company in connection with 
our work.  Rehmann will not be responsible if any information 
provided by the Company is not complete, accurate, consistent, or 
current. 
 
TERMINATION OF SERVICES - We reserve the right to suspend or 
terminate services for reasonable cause such as failure to pay our 
invoices on a timely basis or failure to provide adequate information 
in response to our inquiries necessary for successful performance of 
our review services. Our engagement will be deemed to be 
completed upon written notification of termination, even if we have 
not completed the engagement. The Company is obligated to 
compensate us for the time expended to that point and to reimburse 
us for all out-of-pocket expenditures through the date of 
termination. 
 
We acknowledge the Company’s right to terminate our services at 
any time, and the Company acknowledges our right to withdraw at 
any time, including, but not limited to, for example, instances where, 
in our judgment, (a) the conditions in the preceding paragraph exist, 
(b) we can no longer rely on the integrity of management, or  (c) 
management  fails to reasonably support our efforts to perform the 
engagement in accordance with what we believe is necessary to 
comply with professional standards, subject in either case to our 
right to payment for charges incurred to the date of termination or 
resignation. 
 
In the event that we determine to resign, and the Company seeks 
damages allegedly resulting from such resignation, our maximum 
liability to the Company in the event we are held liable because of 
such resignation shall be limited to the fees actually paid to us for 
current year procedures performed up to the date of resignation. 
 
EMAIL - The Company acknowledges that (a) Rehmann, the 
Company and others, if any, participating in this engagement may 
correspond or convey documentation via Internet e-mail unless the 
Company expressly requests otherwise, (b) no party has control 
over the performance, reliability, availability, or security of Internet 
e-mail, and (c) Rehmann shall not be liable for any loss, damage, 
expense, harm or inconvenience resulting from the loss, delay, 
interception, corruption, or alteration of any Internet e-mail due to 
any reason beyond Rehmann’s reasonable control. 
 
OFFERS OF EMPLOYMENT - Neither party shall, during the term of 
this engagement letter and for one (1) year after its termination, 
solicit for hire as an employee, consultant or otherwise any of the 
other party’s personnel without such other party’s express written 
consent.  If the Company desires to offer employment to a Rehmann 
associate and the associate is hired in any capacity by the Company, 
a market-driven compensation placement fee may apply. 
 
ADDITIONAL SERVICES - Management may request that we 
perform additional services not addressed in this engagement letter.  
If this occurs, we will communicate with management regarding the 
scope of the additional services and the estimated fees.  We also may 

issue a separate engagement letter covering the additional services.  
In the absence of any other written communication from us 
documenting such additional services, our services will continue to 
be governed by the terms of this engagement letter. 
 
CHANGES IN STANDARDS, LAWS AND REGULATIONS - We 
perform services for the Company based on present professional 
standards, laws and regulations.  While we may on occasion be able 
to communicate with management with respect to changes in 
professional standards, laws and regulations, as a general principle 
we cannot undertake with clients to advise them of every change 
that may occur.  The Company can always obtain reassurance in this 
regard by contacting us for an updated review of the Company’s 
situation. 
 
BILLING POLICIES – In accordance with our Firm policies, work may 
be suspended if the Company’s account becomes 30 days or more 
overdue and will not be resumed until the account is paid in full or 
we have a definitive payment agreement approved by our Firm 
administrator in Saginaw, Michigan.  If we elect to terminate our 
services for nonpayment, our engagement will be deemed to have 
been completed even if we have not completed accounting services.  
The Company will be obligated to compensate us for all time 
expended and to reimburse us for all out-of-pocket expenditures 
through the date of termination. 
 
Our terms and conditions impose a late charge of 1.5% per month, 
which is an annual percentage rate of 18%.  Balances not paid within 
30 days of the receipt of invoice are past due and a late charge of 
1.5% will be applied to the entire past due amount. 
 
Rehmann charges a 3% convenience fee on credit card payments.  
 
MAXIMUM LIABILITY - The Company agrees that our maximum 
liability to the Company for any negligent errors or omissions 
committed by us in the performance of the engagement will be 
limited to the amount of our fees for this engagement, except to the 
extent determined to result from our gross negligence or willful 
misconduct. 
 
CLAIMS - Because there are inherent difficulties in recalling or 
preserving information as the period after an engagement increases, 
the Company agrees that, notwithstanding the statute of limitations 
of any particular State or U.S. Territory, any claim for accounting or 
financial preparation service engagement must be filed within 12 
months after performance of our service, unless management has 
previously provided us with a written notice of a specific defect in 
our services that forms the basis of the claim. 
 
The Company shall indemnify and hold harmless Rehmann and its 
personnel from and against any payment, loss, cost or expense 
(including reasonable attorneys’ fees) paid or incurred by Rehmann 
at any time and in any way (a) relating to claims by any Company 
employees or former employees and (b) attributable to 
misrepresentations of the Company.  The foregoing indemnity is 
intended to apply to the extent not contrary to applicable law. This 
paragraph shall survive the termination of this agreement for any 
reason. 
 
THIRD PARTY PROCEEDINGS - As a result of our prior or future 
services to the Company, we might be requested or subpoenaed to 
provide testimony, information or documents to management, a 
regulatory authority, a court, a trier of fact, or an other third party in 
a legal, investigative, administrative, mediation, arbitration, or 
similar proceeding in which we are not a party. If this occurs, our 

Page 72 of 96



Rehmann Accounting and Advisory Services Engagement Letter Terms 
 
efforts in complying with such requests will be billable to the 
Company as a separate engagement. We shall be entitled to 
compensation for our time at our standard or special hourly rates 
and reasonable reimbursement for our expenses (including our legal 
fees) in complying with this request. For all requests, we will observe 
the confidentiality requirements of our profession and will notify 
management promptly of the request. This paragraph will survive 
the termination of this agreement for any reason, and will be binding 
upon successors to the Company. 
 
PROMOTIONAL MATERIALS - The Company consents to 
Rehmann’s use of your Company name and a factual description of 
the services to be performed by Rehmann under this agreement in 
Rehmann’s advertising and promotional materials and other 
proposal opportunities. 
 
CLIENT RECORDS - Rehmann does not keep any original client 
records; we will return those to you at the completion of services 
rendered under this engagement.  When records are returned to 
you, it is your responsibility to retain and protect your records for 
possible future use, including but not limited to, potential 
examination by any government or regulatory agencies.  Our 
records and files, including our engagement documentation, 
whether kept on paper or electronic media, are our property and are 
not a substitute for your own records.  Our firm policy requires 
records and engagement documentation to be destroyed according 
to specified record retention periods, after which time items will no 
longer be available.   
 
CONFIDENTIALITY - Rehmann agrees to take reasonable steps to 
protect all Confidential Information and to use the Confidential 
Information only in connection with performing the services 
hereunder. For purposes of this agreement, Confidential 
Information shall mean any and all information which is private and 
not in the public domain about the Company that is provided, 
obtained, or produced in connection with the services in written, 
oral, digital or other tangible form. 
 
You acknowledge that the proprietary information, documents, 
materials, management techniques, and other intellectual property 
we use are a material source of the services we perform and that 
these were developed prior to our association with you.  Any new 
forms, software, documents, or intellectual property we develop in 
this engagement for your use shall belong to us, and you shall have 
the limited right to use them solely within your business.  All report 
templates, manuals, forms, checklists, questionnaires, letters, 
agreements (including this one), and other documents, which we 
make available to you, are confidential and proprietary to us.  Any 
and all new documents created as a result of this engagement will 
automatically become our property. Neither you, nor any of your 
agents, will copy, electronically store, reproduce, or make available 
to anyone other than your personnel, any such documents.  This 
agreement will apply to all materials whether in digital or “hard 
copy” format.  
 
MEDIATION - If any dispute arises among the parties hereto, the 
parties agree first to try in good faith to settle the dispute by 
mediation administered by the American Arbitration Association 
under its Rules for Professional Accounting and Related Services 
Disputes before resorting to litigation. Costs of any mediation 
proceeding shall be shared equally by all parties.  
 
GOVERNING LAW - This Agreement shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Michigan, 
without regard to the principles of conflicts of law thereof. 

Page 73 of 96



Appendix A 
Services to be Provided 

 

A-1 

The following is a list of professional services available from Rehmann Robson LLC (“Rehmann”). We hope to better 
meet your expectations of services from our Firm by clearly identifying the particular services requested and their 
frequency. The services will be provided to Traverse City Downtown Development Authority for your June 30, 2024 year 
end. 
 

Traverse City Downtown Development Authority Frequency 

Description of Services  

Monthly Technology Bundle – This is required for all Rehmann Accounting and Advisory 
Services Clients  

Monthly 

New/Returning Client Setup, Consultation, and Procedures Documentation One-Time Only 

Accounting Data File Analysis – One Time/Initial (required to initiate all other services if 
an existing accounting file will be used) 

One-Time Only 

Accounts Payable: 
 

  Bill.com X 
  Check Processing ☐ 

As Needed 

Assistance with vendor communications to obtain W-9s. (Rehmann will provide assistance 
in this area but we do not assume responsibility for the completeness/accuracy of the W-9 
information we receive from you and/or from your vendors). 

As Requested 

Preparation of 1099s and 1096 Annually 

Credit Card Transactions: 
 

  Download and Code X 
  Data Entry and Coding ☐ 

Monthly 

Banking Activity: 
 

  Download and Code X 
  Data Entry and Coding ☐ 

Monthly 

Allocation of revenue to professional service class Monthly 

Accounts Receivable:  * 
 

Set-up New Customers ☐ 
Prepare Invoices X 
Apply Payments and Record Deposits X 
Record Deposits X 
 

* Client is responsible for obtaining exemption certificates; exemption certificates provided to Rehmann will be 
retained in the customer profile 

As Needed 

Posting of monthly journal entries (Depreciation, Amortization, Other) Monthly 

  

Page 74 of 96



Appendix A 
Services to be Provided 

 

A-2 

Description of Services Frequency 

Balance Sheet Account Reconciliations: 
 
  Bank Account Reconciliations X 
    Credit Card Reconciliation X 
    Loan Account Reconciliation ☐ 
    Line of Credit Reconciliation ☐ 
    Other ☐  List: Click or tap here to enter text. 

Monthly 
 

Implementation of ASC 842 Lease Accounting Standard 
Choose an item. 

 

Payroll Processing 
Bi-Weekly 

 

Preparation of payroll tax returns.  (Rehmann will provide assistance in this area but we 
do not assume responsibility for the payment of payroll tax liabilities). 

TruPay – 
Quarterly 

 

Preparation of W-2’s 
TruPay - Annually 

 

Year –end accounting adjustments and closing of books 
Annually 

 

Accounting Services Management Reports  
  Balance Sheet X 
  Income Statement Current Month X  
  Income Statement-YTD X 
  Accounts Receivable Aging X 
  Accounts Payable Aging X 
  Up to 2 Custom Reports Click or tap here to enter text. 
  Basis of Accounting:  GAAP ☐    Income Tax Basis ☐        
  Other Click or tap here to enter text. 

Monthly 
 

Budgeting and/or Forecasting 
As Requested 

 

Managing Banking Relationships 
N/A 

 

Telephone conference with Rehmann accountant to answer any questions specifically 
related to transaction processing, open service orders and other work in progress. 

As Requested 
 

Monthly management reporting and consultation with you Rehmann accountant 
Monthly 

 

Page 75 of 96



Appendix A 
Services to be Provided 

 

A-3 

Sales Tax Return Preparation List States:Click or tap here to enter text. 
N/A 

 

Property Tax Return Preparation 
N/A 

 

Corporate Income Tax Preparation [and/or other tax returns as appropriate].  Our tax 
services will be outlined in a separate agreement even if the fees for those services have 
been included in your Accounting and Advisory Services agreement.   

N/A 
 

 
 

Page 76 of 96



B-1 

Appendix B 
Service Level Agreement, Financial Policies, and Fees 

Your Rehmann Accounting Team 

Initially, our services with you will be provided by the following Rehmann team members: 

Betsy Schnell, Senior  
Adrianna Moore, Senior  
Tanya Laprade, Senior 
Chris Ruszel, Senior Manager  
Stephen M. Peacock, CPA 

Additional/alternate staff may be assigned to you where appropriate as this engagement progresses.  

Your Processing, Meeting, and Reporting Schedule 

In order to ensure timely and accurate ongoing services, we will work with you to develop a monthly schedule 
for transaction processing. It is important that you provide us with your ongoing transactions and other 
information in accordance with the agreed upon schedule. 

Your Investment 

The monthly fee for services outlined in this agreement will be billed at $6,930/month beginning July 1, 2024 
through June 30, 2025. 

Our fees are based on anticipated cooperation from Company personnel and the assumption that unexpected 
circumstances will not be encountered during the work performed.  If significant additional time is necessary, 
we will discuss the related circumstance with management and arrive at a new fee estimate before we incur 
the additional costs. 

The Company will also be billed for out-of-pocket costs such as report production, postage, travel, etc. and an 
allocation of our technology overhead costs.   

Our invoices for these fees will be rendered each month as work progresses and are payable on presentation. 

While we will update our engagement letter on an annual basis, it is understood that the scope and terms of 
this letter will remain in effect until the subsequent year’s letter is signed and returned to us. 

We will communicate with you often, making recommendations to help you build a better business and to 
develop a win-win, long-term relationship with you.  We naturally expect you to communicate with us 
frequently, too.   

We look forward to working with you! 

Page 77 of 96



Appendix C 
 Change Order Request – Engagement Letter Addendum 

C-1 

EXAMPLE CHANGE ORDER 

Client:  Traverse City Downtown Development Authority (the “Company”) 

Date: 

Project Description (and estimated completion date, if appropriate): 

Estimated Additional Fees: $________________________ 

We believe it is our responsibility to exceed the Company’s expectations.  This Change Order is being 
prepared because performance by us of the above project and/or additional service efforts was 
not anticipated in our original Agreement dated June 24, 2024.  The estimated fees for the above project 
have been mutually agreed upon by the Company and Rehmann.  It is our goal to ensure that the Company is 
never surprised by the price for any Rehmann service and, therefore, we have adopted the Change Order 
Policy.  The estimated additional amount above is due and payable upon completion of the project described. 

If management agrees with the above project description and the estimated fee amount, please authorize and 
date the Change Order below.  A copy is enclosed for the Company’s records.  Thank you for letting us serve 
the Company. 

Agreed to and accepted: 

Officer Signature 

Printed Name 

Title 

Date 

Page 78 of 96



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  
Client #464718 

 

 
 
 
 
 

E-Billing Enrollment/Confirmation 
 
Timely and easy-to-access invoices and statements will now be emailed to you. Please provide your 
contact information below to start taking advantage of electronic invoicing and statements.  

 

Primary Billing Contact:   

Billing Phone Number:   

Email Address:   

 

Comments: 

  

  

  

 

If you are already taking advantage of e-Billing, we will confirm this information in our systems. 
Additionally, the billing contact will receive information on e-Payment options to simplify your accounts 
payable process.  

 

Page 79 of 96



  

 
 

 
 

 
Downtown Development Authority 

303 E. State Street 
Traverse City, MI 49684 

harry@downtowntc.com 
      231-922-2050 

       
Memorandum 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
To:   DDA Board 
 
From:  Harry Burkholder, Executive Director  
 
Date:  September 16, 2024 
 
Subject: Executive Director Job Description  
 
 
At the September 3rd City Commission meeting, in which the Downtown Development 
Authority Executive Director’s employment contract was considered and approved, 
several city commissioners noted a desire to see a more formal (and current) job 
description for the Executive Director. Working from the job description that was 
developed through the Executive Director search process, I have attached the proposed 
job description. Additional modifications to the job description could be made upon the 
request and approval of the DDA Board. Once approved, the job description will be 
forwarded on to the City Commission.   
  
RECOMMENDED MOTION 
That the DDA Board approve the Job Description for the DDA Executive Director and 
agrees to forward it on to the City Commission.  
 
 
 
 
   

Page 80 of 96



  

Traverse City Downtown Development Authority 

Executive Director Job Description 

Supervised by: Traverse City Downtown Development Authority (DDA) Board of Directors 

Supervises:  DDA Staff 

Job Type: Full-time Exempt 

General Summary: 

The Executive Director of the Traverse City Downtown Development Authority (DDA) serves at 
the pleasure of the DDA Board of Directors and plays a pivotal role in realizing the vision for 
downtown Traverse City. The Executive Director is entrusted with the development, execution, 
and implementation of DDA activities within the city. This role involves collaborating closely with 
the Board, overseeing all DDA staff, and ensuring the successful implementation of strategic 
and operational plans, which may include contractual work for other entities. The ideal 
candidate for this position is adept at fostering relationships with city staff, and other various 
stakeholders, and demonstrates a passion for community development. Strong and regular 
communication with all stakeholders will be an important focus of this position. 

Essential Duties and Responsibilities: 

The Executive Director serves as a leader, visionary, champion, and bridge builder for Traverse 
City’s downtown and related operations. The Executive Director is responsible for engagement 
with community interests in fulfilling the annual goals and priorities of the DDA. General 
responsibilities include but are not limited to: 

• Build and sustain relationships with community partners and stakeholders, and most 
importantly, provide services and programs valued by businesses and organizations 
within the DDA District. 

• Partnerships and collaborations ensuring all stakeholders are engaged through effective 
communication that focuses on consensus building. 

• Strategic leadership that will advance the goals and the priorities of the DDA and provide 
forward thinking, innovative, and actionable recommendations. This position will 
prioritize annual goal setting, strategic planning, governance, and leadership 
development for the DDA Board and staff, aligning priorities of the DDA and the City 
whenever possible. 

• Ensure close and consistent communication and coordination with the City of Traverse 
City’s leadership team including, but not limited to, regular participation in city staff 
meetings, collaboration with the City Engineer on all capital projects, and actively 
engage with public safety and emergency management on all events programmed within 
the Downtown. 

• Board management through the coordination of meetings, agenda coordination and 
regular communications ensuring the board is kept abreast of operational and project 
progress, challenges, successes, and related community relationships. 

• Provide oversight of all DDA staff including hiring, training, performance management, 
team building and day-to-day oversight, which may include contract employees. 

Page 81 of 96



  

• Responsible for supporting the prudent fiscal management of the DDA, affiliate non- 
profit organization(s) and ancillary functions including budgeting, expenditure oversight, 
and financial reporting. Monitor revenue streams, seek revenue enhancement 
opportunities through grants and sponsorships, and exercise responsible fiscal decision- 
making. Ensure accurate financial records, prepare comprehensive financial reports, and 
foster open communication with the DDA Board, staff, and stakeholders regarding 
financial matters. 

• Create and manage Tax Increment Financing (TIF) plans to support the strategic 
objectives of the organization and community, ensuring effective utilization of financial 
resources for infrastructure and economic revitalization and development efforts. The 
incumbent will oversee the implementation and execution of TIF plans, monitoring their 
impact and compliance with regulatory requirements to achieve desired outcomes. 

• Supervise the development of marketing and promotional strategies aimed at enhancing 
the visibility and reputation of Downtown Traverse City, including traditional methods as 
well as maximizing social media and other digital platforms associated with the Traverse 
City DDA. 

• Efficiently manage parking facilities within the DDA with the focus to optimize usage and 
ensure smooth operations. Responsibilities include overseeing maintenance, 
implementing effective traffic flow strategies, and addressing any issues to enhance the 
overall parking experience for visitors. 

• Actively attract and retain businesses within Downtown Traverse City by fostering a 
dynamic and thriving economic environment, including developing strategies to attract 
new businesses, nurturing relationships with existing businesses, and providing support 
to ensure continued business success and growth. 

• Facilitate and manage economic development and infrastructure projects within the DDA 
District of Downtown Traverse City, overseeing various stages from inception to 
completion. Responsibilities include coordinating with stakeholders and city staff, 
overseeing project timelines and budgets, and ensuring alignment with the district's 
goals and regulations. 

• Manage all contractual relationships to ensure commitments and obligations are met by 
all parties. 

• Additional responsibilities as directed by the Board of Directors. 

ADDITIONAL RESPONSIBILITIES AND TASKS: 

• Deliver engaging, clear, and informative presentations to officials, boards, commissions, 
civic groups, and the public to effectively convey the DDA's vision, initiatives, and 
accomplishments. 

• Keep abreast of local, state, and federal legislation and regulations related to downtown 
development, ensuring adherence, and adjusting strategies proactively to align with 
changing legal landscapes. 

• Actively engage in professional development activities, including workshops and 
conferences focused on downtown development, to facilitate ongoing learning and to 
stay updated on emerging trends, best practices, and innovative methodologies. 

• Represent the DDA at key city/DDA functions, events, and ceremonies such as business 
openings, groundbreaking ceremonies, and other significant gatherings to foster strong 
relationships and community involvement. 

Page 82 of 96



  

Required Knowledge, Skills, Abilities, and Minimum Qualifications 

• A bachelor’s degree with major course work in business or public administration, non- 
profit management, urban and regional planning, historic preservation, tourism, 
marketing, or a closely related field; and 

• Five to seven years of administrative experience in the same or related field with strong 
foundations in communications, marketing, strategic planning, economic development, 
grant writing, community planning and public relations. Experience working with a board 
of directors preferred, but not required. An equivalent combination of education and 
progressively responsible experience may be considered. 

• Exhibited strength in leading and adapting to change, organizational development, team 
building, the capacity to balance short-term needs versus long-term strategy/vision, and 
the ability to delegate to and empower employees, volunteers, and board members 
culminating in a mission driven and outcomes motivated environment. 

• Demonstrated knowledge and understanding of downtown development principles, 
community engagement, collaborative partnerships, professional management, and 
outreach. 

• Strong communication skills are required for this position, including relationship 
development, emotional intelligence, and political acumen. 

 
Use of Technology 

This role necessitates familiarity with diverse software applications, including Microsoft Office 
and G Suite. Additionally, proficiency in utilizing email and other communication tools such as 
Teams, Zoom, and video conferencing is essential. Mastery of social media platforms and other 
communication channels is also a requirement for this position. 

Physical Demands and Work Environment 

The Executive Director position requires a combination of office work and time outside within the 
DDA District. While most tasks are performed in an office setting, occasional outdoor activities 
may be required. This position will participate in various physical activities, including setting up 
event spaces, moving equipment and supplies, and coordinating with vendors and staff. The 
Executive Director may be required to lift and carry objects of moderate weight, such as event 
signage, decorations, and equipment. Standing and walking for extended periods may be 
necessary during event setup, coordination, and execution. Some tasks may involve bending, 
stooping, kneeling, or reaching to access materials or adjust event setups. Manual dexterity and 
hand-eye coordination are important for handling event materials, assembling decorations, and 
operating equipment. 

This position is often dynamic and operates in fast-paced environments, including offices, event 
venues, construction sites and outdoor spaces. Flexibility in work hours is often required, 
including evenings, weekends, and holidays, to accommodate event schedules and the needs 
of the DDA. The work environment may involve exposure to loud noises, crowded spaces, and 
unpredictable situations, especially during large-scale events or festivals. 

Page 83 of 96



  

This description outlines the physical demands and work environment typical for this position 
and ensures compliance with ADA regulations by offering reasonable accommodations to 
individuals with disabilities. 

Please Note: This job description is intended to outline the general nature and level of work 
expected of the Executive Director. It is not exhaustive and may be supplemented in the future, 
as needed. 

 
 

 

Page 84 of 96



Downtown Development Authority 
303 E. State Street 

Traverse City, MI 49684 
harry@downtowntc.com 

      231-922-2050 
 
                   MEMORANDUM 

______________________________________________________________________ 
 
To:    Downtown Development Authority Board   
 
From:  Harry Burkholder, Executive Director 
 
Date:   September 15, 2024 
 
Re:    TIF-97 Budget Priorities   
 
 
As you are aware, the DDA Board approved the Moving Downtown Forward TIF Plan in 
August and it has been sent on to the City Commission for discussion and consideration 
for approval (after a public hearing) at a date yet to be determined. At this time, we do 
not know the outcome of that potential vote. In addition, there are two voter 
referendums that address the future of TIF on the November ballot, which if approved, 
would require an affirmative vote of the citizens of Traverse City to extend and/or 
amend the TIF-97 Plan (i.e., Moving Downtown Forward TIF Plan).  
 
If TIF-97 is not extended, it will formally expire in December of 2027, which means  
the DDA has three budget years remaining to fund and complete capital improvement 
projects. Although I remain optimistic about the approval and extension of the Moving 
Downtown Forward TIF Plan, I think it is prudent to consider scenarios in which TIF-97 
is not extended. To that end, I believe it is in the best interest of the DDA to start a 
conversation about what capital improvement projects we want to focus on and 
complete over the next three years.  
 
To reiterate, this is not to say the DDA is going to stop looking forward, beyond 
December of 2027. The DDA will continue to inform the community about the TIF tool, 
serve as an advocate and champion for the extension of TIF and help facilitate the 
approval of the Moving Downtown Forward TIF Plan. This conversation is only intended 
to help the DDA Board establish direction and priorities for the next three years, should 
TIF-97 not be extended. Again, our meeting on Friday is only meant to begin this 
conversation.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 85 of 96



How Much Money Is Available? 
One of the first questions we need to know understand is how much money does the 
DDA have available over the remaining three budget cycles for capital improvements 
projects. I am working with our team from Rehmann to develop a working “TIF Revenue 
and Expense Projection Sheet” (see attached) that estimates the revenue and 
expenditures of TIF-97 for the next three years. The numbers listed in the preliminary 
revenue and expense projection sheet reflect a few assumptions – mainly that the 
expenses for Professional Services (including Debt Service on the Hardy Parking 
Structure, General Expenses and Repairs and Maintenance) remains fairly consistent. 
 
Therefore, the dollars remaining for Capital Improvement Projects for each future fiscal 
year is estimated to be: 
Fiscal Year 2025 – 2026: $1,624,680 
Fiscal Year 2026 – 2027: $1,715,190 
Fiscal Year 2027 – 2028: $1,178,920 
 
The total dollars remaining for capital improvements, coupled with our estimated End of 
Fiscal Year 2024-2025 Fund Balance of $4,798,515, means that the DDA has an 
estimated total of $9,317,305 to spend on Capital Improvement projects over the next 
three years. I will continue to work with the team from Rehmann to refine the projection 
sheet, but it does provide a starting point. 
 
What Capital Infrastructure Projects Do We Want to Spend the Money On?     
This question is hard to answer because there are a number of considerations and 
variables at play, including: 

• Are there other infrastructure projects the city has planned that will require TIF funding? 
• Are there city infrastructure projects that we could dovetail on with our own project? 
• What projects do we already have in the works? 
• What projects does the community and City Commission support?   
• What projects can the DDA realistically get completed by 2027? 
• What project(s) align with the Moving Downtown Forward Guiding Principles? 
• What projects have the highest ROI? 

 
Based on several years of DDA Board conversations and discussions regarding capital 
infrastructure projects, including community discussion from the Moving Downtown 
Forward planning process, the DDA have identified several capital infrastructure 
projects of interest: 
 
Garland Street Improvements  Public Alley Improvements Farmers Market Shed 
Rotary Square Board/Ottaway Riverwalk City Opera House 
Bridge Improvements  Bayfront Improvements  Heated Sidewalks 
East Front Street  Downtown Cameras Stormwater  
Streetscaping Improvements Housing (west end) Mobility Improvements  
Composting  Two-Way Streets TART Trail Extension  
General Repair West Front Staircase Lot G 
East Front Gateway  

Page 86 of 96



Based on the estimated amount of money we believe we have left in TIF-97, the 
number of budget cycles we have left, and the considerations mentioned above, I 
believe the following projects could use additional discussion and exploration for 
potential focus of the DDA. Given the amount of money available, it’s likely that one or 
two (or maybe three) projects is possible. We also need to consider if the DDA should 
continue to budget dollars for infrastructure projects that it has traditional supported, like 
streetscaping when new development occurs. Again, I believe all of the projects listed 
above are worth pursuing should TIF-97 be extended – this following list is just a 
starting point for discussion. 
 
Rotary Square       Cost: Unknown 
We are about to kick off the conceptual and schematic design process for this project 
and could implement “phase one” improvements within the next three years. Additional 
phases of improvements to Rotary Square could be implemented should TIF-97 be 
extended.  
 
Farmers Market Shed      Cost: Unknown 
In 2019, the DDA worked with Beckett and Reader to develop schematic designs for a 
permanent shed at the Farmers Market. The city has identified plans to reconstruct and 
reconfigure Lot B in the near future, which would provide the DDA an opportunity to 
implement the permanent farmers market shed at the same time. The DDA would need 
to work with Beckett and Reader to revisit and revise the schematic design to adhere to 
the reconfigured Lot B.  
 
Boardman/Ottaway Riverwalk      Cost: Est. $5 million 
Project “One-A”: J-Smith Walkway, a new pedestrian bridge with abutment 
improvements on both sides of the river.   
As noted in the Executive Director report, the DDA and MEDC reached a mutual 
understanding that the DDA would likely be unable to fulfill the obligations of the  
$1 million PAR Grant and have since terminated the grant agreement. We anticipate 
additional grant dollars (with awards of $1million) from MEDC for placemaking projects 
will become available later this year with more flexible time constraints.    
 
We have also budgeted $1,000,000 in this fiscal year for engineering/schematic 
services and I have been working with INFORM Studio to secure a cost/proposal to 
complete this task.     
 
Two-Way Circulation      Cost: Unknown 
As noted earlier in this meeting packet, we have nearly completed the two-year pilot 
project and will need to collectively decide how to proceed with the pilot project. We 
have budgeted $500,000 in this fiscal year for additional modifications to the street 
network, as needed. Additional modifications for a permanent change in the future 
(whether it remains a two-way street or reverts back to a one-way street) will require 
additional TIF funding.  
 
 

Page 87 of 96



 
 
Bayfront TART Trail Improvements     Cost: $200,000 
We have budgeted $200,000 in this fiscal year for trail improvements/expansion along 
portions of the Bayfront Trail. Additional improvements/expansion through the TIF 
District will require additional funding, in collaboration with the City and TART. Funding 
could also be allocated to other non-motorized infrastructure in the downtown district, 
should we develop and determine a specific project(s).    
 
Stormwater Infrastructure      Cost: Unknown 
Stormwater infrastructure has been identified as an infrastructure priority by both the 
DDA Board and City Commission. In fact, after additional budget discussions with the 
City Commission in June, the DDA included $100,000 in the 2024-2025 budget to 
address this infrastructure priority. At this time, we do not have a specific stormwater 
project ready for implementation (I have been working with city staff to identify potential 
projects). Therefore, additional study and development of a project(s) would need to be 
facilitated, in partnership with city staff.  
 
East Front Street/Gateway      Cost: Est. $5 Million 
In 2021, we had a preliminary budget of just under $5 million to reconstruct East Front 
Street (between Boardman Ave. and Grandview Parkway). Once the reconstruction of 
the new Grandview Parkway and East Front Street intersection is completed later this 
fall, I believe it will spark renewed interest in completing streetscaping along this 
gateway stretch of Front Street. This section of Front Street is one of the last remaining 
downtown streets to incorporate any streetscaping elements.     
 
Ambassador Program       Cost: Unkown 
The day-to-day maintenance of the downtown, especially in the summer, is a challenge 
for the current DDA staff. Fortunately, we have been able to contract with YouthWorks 
to provide supplemental maintenance of downtown. While that relationship has proven 
to be successful, I believe it is in the best interest of Downtown if we take it up to 
another level and create a full-time, year-round downtown ambassador program. 
Funding for this kind of program could come from “serves” side of the budget, but I 
believe it is an important next step for downtown.    
 
 
I look forward to beginning this discussion on Friday and working over the course of the 
next several months to better define our direction for the implementation of capital 
infrastructure projects over the next three years.  
   
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 88 of 96



 
  

Page 89 of 96



Thru Dec. 
2027 Only

FY 2022-2023 FY 2023-2024 FY 2024-2025 FY 2025-2026 FY 2026-2027 FY 2027-2028

Audited Unaudited Budgeted Estimated Estimated Estimated

TAXABLE REAL PROPERTY INFLATION GROWTH - (Estimated @ 1.5%) 2,728,560 2,821,988 2,916,818 2,960,570 
TAXABLE REAL PROPERTY NEW TO ROLL  (100%) - includes uncapping 3,500,000 3,500,000 0 0 
REAL PROPERTY TAXABLE VALUE 169,530,321 181,903,974 188,132,534 194,454,522 197,371,339 200,331,910 
PERSONAL PROPERTY TAXABLE VALUE 7,928,140 7,092,220 8,000,000 8,000,000 8,000,000 8,000,000 
TOTAL TAXABLE VALUE 177,458,461 188,996,194 196,132,534 202,454,522 205,371,339 208,331,910 
BASE TAXABLE VALUE - 1997+park place brownfield 37,530,730 37,530,730 37,530,730 37,530,730 37,530,730 37,530,730 

CAPTURED TAXABLE VALUE FOR DISTRICT 139,927,731 151,465,464 158,601,804 164,923,792 167,840,609 170,801,180 
Increase/Decrease 17,614,899 11,537,733 7,136,340 6,321,988 2,916,818 2,960,570 

MILLAGE RATES - Actual, Projected and Estimated FY 2022-2023       
Audited

FY 2023-2024 
Unaudited         Budgeted

FY 2025-2026       
Estimated

FY 2026-2027       
Estimated

FY 2027-2028        
Estimated

TRAVERSE CITY & ACT 345 + ambulance for fye 25 14.0888 14.0888 14.9407 14.8660 14.7917 14.7177 
RECREATIONAL AUTHORITY (RA) 0.1500 0.1500 0.1500 0.1493 0.1485 0.1478 
RA BOND 0.3300 0.2300 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 
NORTHWESTERN MICHIGAN COLLEGE (NMC) 2.0574 2.0574 2.0471 2.0369 2.0267 2.0166 
NMC BOND 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 
GRAND TRAVERSE COUNTY (GTC) 4.7268 4.7268 4.7032 4.6797 4.6563 4.6330 
GTC COMMISION ON AGING & SENIOR CNTR 0.5684 0.5684 0.5656 0.5627 0.5599 0.5571 
TRAVERSE AREA DISTRICT LIBRARY 0.9044 0.9044 0.8999 0.8954 0.8909 0.8864 
GTC ROAD COMMISSION 0.9734 0.9734 0.9685 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 
GTC VETERANS 0.1135 0.1135 0.1129 0.1124 0.1118 0.1112 
DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 1.5927 1.5927 1.5847 1.5768 1.5689 1.5611 
BAY AREA TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 0.4788 0.4788 0.4764 0.4740 0.4717 0.4693 
GTC ANIMAL CONTROL 0.0370 0.0370 0.0368 0.0366 0.0364 0.0363 
GTC CONSERVATION 0.0958 0.0958 0.0953 0.0948 0.0944 0.0939 
TOTAL CAPTURED MILLAGE RATE 26.1170 26.0170 26.5812 25.4846 25.3571 25.2304 

FY 2022-2023 FY 2023-2024 FY 2024-2025 FY 2025-2026 FY 2026-2027 FY 2027-2028

Audited Unaudited Budgeted Estimated Estimated Estimated

REVENUE
TAXES - ((Captured Taxable Value / 1,000) x Total Captured Millage Rate) 3,677,904 3,832,599 4,215,820 4,203,011 4,255,958 4,309,374 
ADJUSTMENTS AND  TRIBUNAL REFUNDS 0 0 (50,000) (50,000) (50,000) (696,406)
   SUB-TOTAL TAXES 3,677,904 3,832,599 4,165,820 4,153,011 4,205,958 3,612,968 
INTEREST 4,260 54,754 4,500 4,500 4,500 4,500 
REIMBURSEMENTS 196,607 92,903 0 0 0 0 
TOTAL REVENUE 3,878,771 3,980,256 4,170,320 4,157,511 4,210,458 3,617,468 

EXPENSE
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 860,923 1,231,398 1,477,215 1,388,372 1,399,612 1,386,007 
   Downtown Development Authority Administration  427,355 555,106 577,233 587,442 597,804 

   Legal 18,158 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 

   Community Policing Full Time 120,420 120,420 120,420 120,420 

   Dedicated Engineer for Public Infrastructure  60,000 60,000 60,000 

   Arts Commission - Administration 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 

   Arts Commission - Project  

   Downtown WIFI
   Public Restroom (5 Private Sector downtown locations) 28,200 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 

   Service Agreement 72,420 514,689 515,718 516,750 517,783 

   Traverse Connect Professional Services 35,000 37,000 35,000 

   Retail Incubator 50,000 

   Composting 25,000 

   Miscellaneous 650,264 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 

2017 DECK REFUNDING DEBT SERVICE (Hardy Deck) 972,956 953,111 913,720 874,459 825,656 782,541 
GENERAL EXPENSES 195,789 161,093 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 
REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE (Clean & Green / Youthworks) -- Infrastructure Repair 24,157 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS 1,117,777 830,745 3,034,367 0 0 0 
   North Cass Street Bridge Rehabilitation 167,979 

   Park Street Bridge Repair 33,589 

   South Cass Street Bridge Repair

   South Union Street Bridge Repair 114,389 

   West Front Street Bridge Replacement 52,155 

   Lower Boardman/Ottaway Riverwalk 167,827 1,000,000 

   West End Mix-Use Development 468,248 

   Lot G Parking Structure

   Stormwater Management

   Workforce Housing 

   Opera House Boiler Replacement

   Grandview Parkway 181,757 

   East Front Street Improvements  

   State/Boardman/Pine Street Two-Way Conversion  154,321 19,266 500,000 

   Healthier Drinking Culture Investment (Lights & Cameras)

   Farmer's Market 

   Streetscapes/Snow Melt Projects 61,813 400,000 

   Bayfront Tart Trail Engineering, Design, Construction 200,000 

   309 West Front Street Staircase 100,000 

   Rotary Square  100,000 

   Traffic Signal Mastarms

   Tree Replacement

   East Front Street Improvements  

   Mobility Implementation Components 48,000 12,517 

   Infrastructure Repair 100,000 

   Downtown Cameras 112,480 

   BRA Interlocal Agreement 321,887 

   Stormwater Improvement(s) 100,000 

   Miscellaneous 135,947 330,714 100,000 

TOTAL EXPENSE 3,147,445 3,200,505 5,695,302 2,532,831 2,495,268 2,438,548 

CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 731,326 779,751 (1,524,983) 1,624,680 1,715,190 1,178,920 

FUND BALANCE END OF FISCAL YEAR 5,543,747$               6,323,498$               4,798,515$               6,423,195$               8,138,385$               9,317,305$                

TIF 97 REVENUE AND EXPENSE PROJECTIONS -  Thru December 2027                                     

FISCAL YEAR

REVENUE & EXPENSE

1

Page 90 of 96



 
 

Downtown Development Authority 
303 E. State Street 

Traverse City, MI 49684 
harry@downtowntc.com 

      231-922-2050 

           Memorandum 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
To:    DDA Board of Directors 
 
From:  Harry Burkholder, DDA Executive Director  
   
Date:   September 17, 2024  
 
Subject:  Executive Director Report  
 
 
Below is an overview of projects and initiatives that the DDA is working on. 
 
Bayfront TART Trail Expansion & Extension 
Work continues on the new sections of the expanded TART Bayfront Trail, from Murchie 
Bridge to Clinch Park and Division to Hall Street. The “north” side of the trail (the trail 
splits near Park Street) has recently been installed and work on the “south” side of the 
trail will be installed soon. As a reminder, the DDA committed $200,000 toward this 
project - matching funds from the City, TART and a grant from the MEDC.  
 
Hannah Park Overlook  
The contract for construction and the Old Town TIF budget adjustment (which the DDA 
Board approved at our July meeting) for improvements to the Hannah Park Overlook 
was approved by the City Commission at their September 16th meeting. As a reminder, 
the DDA committed $105,000 from Old Town TIF toward this project – matching similar 
funding amounts from the city. We are hopeful this project could get completed by the 
end of the year.  
 
West End Staircase 
The RFP for the west-end (Front Street Bridge) staircase has been released by the city 
and bids are due on September 26th. As a reminder, the DDA committed $100,000 from 
TIF-97 toward this project. Unless bids come back higher then what the DDA budgeted, 
we will seek City Commission approval in October.  
 
Lower Boardman/Ottaway Riverwalk  
Earlier this month, after several conversations with MEDC staff, the DDA and MEDC 
reached a mutual understanding that the DDA would likely be unable to fulfill the timing 
obligations of the $1 million Revitalization and Placemaking (RAP) Program Grant the 
DDA was awarded in 2022. As a result, the grant has been terminated. As you may 
recall, funding for the grant came from the Federal ARPA funds (funneled through 
MEDC) and therefore had very strict timeline requirements – primarily that the project 

Page 91 of 96



 
 

had to be incurred by June of 2026 and that 50% of the eligible costs associated with 
the project be completed by this past July. DDA staff did inquire and discuss an 
extension on some of these requirements, but (largely due to the fact that we have yet 
to hire a firm for the schematic design and engineering activities) ultimately determined 
that it was in the best interest of both parties to terminate the grant. It is important to 
remember that at the end of the day, a grant is a relationship and partnership between 
the awarding agency and the awardee. With that partnership in mind, additional 
conversations with MEDC staff revealed that another round of Placemaking Grants from 
MEDC is likely to be announced later this year, with more relaxed time requirements 
and that we would certainly be eligible, especially if we begin the schematic design and 
engineering work we’ve been moving toward.  
 
To that end, I was able to connect with INFORM Studio (who developed the conceptual 
design) and have received a proposal to completed the schematic design and 
engineering process for what I am calling Phase-I (A) of the riverwalk – the J-Smith 
Walkway, into a new pedestrian bridge, with abutment improvements on both sides of 
the river that address placemaking, habitat restoration and stormwater management. 
This project could still be implemented within the three remaining years of TIF-97 and 
serve as a positive “stand-alone” project - that is, still a worthy project to pursue even if 
no other elements of the entire riverwalk plan are implemented. As you recall, we 
budgeted $1 million for this next phase of project development for this fiscal year. 
Moving forward with this project will require additional discussion, which is further 
addressed in the budget priorities memo in this packet.     
 
Moving Downtown Forward TIF  
I am working with city staff to determine when the Moving Downtown Forward TIF Plan 
will be discussed and considered by the City Commission. As you recall, the City 
Commission still needs to conduct a public hearing prior to consideration of the TIF 
Plan.   
 
DDA Administration Items  
Parking Services should complete their transition to the City within the next couple of 
weeks. Once the transition is complete, I would like to revise the DDA Employee 
Handbook (and its associated policies) to reflect a smaller scope of wage and salary 
policies and address policies that reflect a post-pandemic office environment.   
The Handbook will likely be presented and discussed by the Governance Committee 
prior to coming before the full board. 
 
I have been working with the previous Chair and Vice-Chair to develop short and long-
term priorities and benchmarks for the Executive Director position (for this year) that will 
assist the DDA Board in its annual evaluation of the Executive Director (next June).   
The Handbook will likely be presented and discussed by the Governance Committee 
prior to coming before the full board. 
   
 
 

Page 92 of 96



 
 

     

Page 93 of 96



  

 
 

 
 

 
303 E. State Street 

Traverse City, MI 49684 
 harry@downtowntc.com 

      231-922-2050 

           Memorandum 
__________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
To:    Downtown Development Authority Board of Directors   
 
From:  Harry Burkholder, DDA Executive Director & Todd McMillen, DDA Board 

Member  
     
Memo Date:  September 15, 2024 
 
Subject: Arts Commission Update 
 
 
Rotating Art Exhibit    
The remaining two statues in the Spirit of the Forest Rotating Art Exhibit were removed 
after a third statute was damaged. I am working with the Arts Commission to determine 
a home for the last remaining statute. 
 
Mural Complete  
The mural, by artist Catherine Corden, on the restroom building at Bryant Park is now 
complete. I am working with the Arts Commission to hold a ribbon-cutting ceremony for 
this new public art installment later this month.   
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
Tunnel Mural 
One of the mural panels, by artist Bobby Magee Lopez, in the pedestrian tunnel under 
Grandview Parkway, was recently removed because of vandalism. I am working with 
Image 360 to replace the panel.     

Page 94 of 96



                                         Downtown Development Authority 
303 E. State Street 

Traverse City, MI 49684 
 sara@downtowntc.com 

      231-922-2050 
 

Memorandum 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
To:    Harry Burkholder, DDA Executive Director  

Downtown Development Authority Board of Directors   
    

From:    Sara Klebba, DDA Director of Events & Engagement  
 
Date:   Sept 13, 2024 
 
Subject:  DTCA Director of Events & Engagement Update 
 
 
Downtown Art Fair RECAP (Sat, 8/17) 

• With just about 45 minutes of rain, the DT Art Fair was a success! A good 
amount of foot traffic, relaxed and comfortable vibe, and positive engagements 
contributed to a well-received event. 

• Survey highlights: 
o NPS score: 83 (Scores above 50 are amazing, and anywhere above 80 is 

the top percentile.) 
o Event satisfaction: 94% extremely or very satisfied; 6% somewhat 

satisfied 
o Well organized: 100% 
o Satisfied with staff & volunteers: 100% 
o Sales satisfaction: 61% very, 28% somewhat, 11% somewhat dissatisfied 
o Like most: volunteers/staff, load-in and -out, organized, location, crowd 
o Improvements: free/closer parking, stay open till 6 

 
Downtown Employee Summer Send-Off RECAP (Tue, 8/20) 

• Sponsors donated the meal, sweets, and soda. Musician played background 
music (with some crowd participation) during the event. 

• Very positive atmosphere, nice set up, gorgeous weather, and full lunch. 
• Leftover food donated to Goodwill Inn, TCPD & TCFD, returned, or to be used for 

event volunteers. 
• Move to early summer next year to capture more staff. 

Page 95 of 96



 
NEW EVENT – Haunts & Harvest Window Walk Overview 

• In place of Happy Apple Day, this new fall event is designed to engage 
downtown merchants and visitors through a window display contest. Running 
from October 18 to October 31, the contest will feature two themes—fall harvest 
and spooky season—with visitors and the DTCA board voting on displays in 
three categories: Most Creative, Best Overall, and Judge’s Choice (DCTA panel).  

• Participating merchants will receive promotional support through DTCA’s website 
and social media, and winners will receive prizes: Lilies of the Alley fall bouquets 
and Cherry Republic gift boxes. The event aims to boost and engage foot traffic 
while showcasing downtown’s creativity and seasonal spirit.  

 
Halloween Walk (Sat, 10/26) 

• The Downtown Halloween Walk is scheduled for Saturday, October 26, from 
10:00 to 11:30 AM. This family-friendly event invites children to trick-or-treat at 
participating stores throughout the downtown district, including Front Street (100-
300 blocks), side streets, and State Street. Volunteers will be stationed at busy 
intersections and bump outs to ensure safe crossings. 

• This event draws families to the downtown area, boosting foot traffic and 
promoting engagement with local businesses. The Halloween Walk continues to 
be a fun and safe way for the community to celebrate the season while engaging 
merchants. 

 
Shop Your Community Day (11/9) 

• We are moving forward with plans for Shop Your Community Day, scheduled for 
Saturday, November 9th. This year, 30 nonprofit organizations will be selected to 
benefit from the event, with 15% of sales from participating stores donated to the 
nonprofit of the customer’s choice. On 9/19, merchants will receive invitations to 
sign up, and nonprofits will simultaneously be invited to apply for a spot as a 
fundraiser recipient. 

• We will push for robust community participation as we build on the event’s 
established success as well as identify the need to help nonprofit organizations in 
need. 

 

Page 96 of 96


	Agenda
	3. A. Election of Officers Memo (Burkholder) - PDF
	3. A. Rules Governing the DDA Board - PDF
	3. A. DDA Finance Committee Roles and Responsibilities - PDF
	3. A. DDA Governance Committee Roles and Responsibilities - PDF
	3. A. DDA Board and Committee2024 Meeting Schedule - PDF
	6. A. Downtown Development Authority August 16, 2024 Meeting Minutes - PDF
	6. B. DDA General, Old Town TIF, TIF-97 August Financial Report Combined - PDF
	TIF97 Trial blance Aug 24
	OT TIF Trial balance - Aug 24

	6. B. DDA General, Old Town TIF, TIF-97 August Financial Dashboard Combined - PDF
	TIF97_Dashboard - Aug 24
	OT TIF_Dashboard - Aug 24

	6. B. Arts Commission August 2024 Financial Report - PDF
	8. A. Two Way Pilot Project Memo (Burkholder) - PDF
	8. A. Progressive AE Presentation - PDF
	9. A. Traverse Connect Contract Memo (Burkholder) - PDF
	9. A. Traverse Connect - DDA Authority Professional Services Contract 2024 - PDF
	9. B. Rehman Contract Memo (Burkholder) - PDF
	9. B. Rehmann Engagement Letter - PDF
	9. C. Executive Director Job Description Memo (Burkholder) - PDF
	9. C. Executive Director Job Description - PDF
	ADDITIONAL RESPONSIBILITIES AND TASKS:
	Required Knowledge, Skills, Abilities, and Minimum Qualifications

	9. D. TIF-97 Budget Priorities Memo (Burkholder) - PDF
	9. D. Working TIF-97 Estimate Worksheet - PDF
	10. A. Executive Director Report Memo - PDF
	11. A. Arts Commission Report Memo (McMillen) - PDF
	12. A. Director of Events and Outreach Report (Klebba) - PDF

